MOSQUITO ECOLOGY IN RELATION TO LAND-USE CHANGES AND POTENTIAL WEST NILE VIRUS IN NEWFOUNDLAND

SARAH HUSTINS







MOSQUITO ECOLOGY IN RELATION TO LAND-USE CHANGES AND POTENTIAL WEST NILE VIRUS IN NEWFOUNDLAND

by

© Sarah Hustins

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Environmental Science

Memorial University of Newfoundland

November 2006

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31258-2 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31258-2

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

The last extensive mosquito survey of insular Newfoundland was carried out in the early 1980s. Increased urban and agricultural development have locally increased the productivity of mosquito habitats and thus provided opportunity for colonization by additional species. The recent introduction of West Nile virus to North America and changing local climate has prompted renewed research on mosquitoes and the impact of human activity on them in Newfoundland. The research objective was to redefine species composition and evaluate the impact of land-use on mosquitoes. Data were obtained by a survey of three cities and two agricultural areas as well as natural habitat using a standard dip method for larvae and CO₂ baited miniature light traps for adults. A horse serum survey was performed to detect the presence of the virus through ELISA antibody screening, in addition to the National corvid surveillance program serving as an indicator for virus activity. Three additional mosquito species were recorded, including *Culex* pipiens L. (Diptera: Culicidae). The research provided the data needed to estimate the level of risk for human and animal exposure to West Nile virus. Such information will be essential if the risk of vectored disease transmission increases due to enhanced mosquito breeding seasons.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I owe my gratitude to all those people who made these three years a great experience, and without whom this thesis would not have come together. First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Murray Colbo, Department of Biology, and Dr. Hugh Whitney, Animal Health Division, Department of Natural Resources, for giving me the invaluable opportunity to pursue my Masters, and to work on such a challenging and interesting project. I would like to express my appreciation for their guidance and support and for always making themselves available for help and advice, whenever I needed it. Furthermore, I would like to thank Karen Kennedy, Eric Menard, Donna Scott, Jason Soo, Cindy Hickey, and Erica Smith for their much appreciated field assistance. I also thank Dr. Robbin Lindsay, at the National Microbiology Laboratory (NML), and Mahmood Iranpour for performing DNA extractions for the verification of morphological identifications of several adult mosquito species, and Dr. Mike Drebot, NML, and Dr. Suzy Carmen, Animal Health Laboratory, for their professional advice and equine sera testing.

For their friendship and encouragement, as well as our engaging conversations that did not always have to be about science, I thank my fellow entomology lab colleagues. I thank Cherie-lee Fietsch for her technical skills and statistical knowledge, and her willingness and time to impart assistance and advice. I would also like to thank my friends and family for their love, support, and encouragement. This research was carried out with financial support from the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Department of Natural Resources, and Memorial University of Newfoundland.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	Ш
LIST OF TABLES	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	VII
LIST OF APPENDICES	IX
1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1-1
1.1 OBJECTIVES	1-3
1.2 MOSOUITO LIFE HISTORY	1-3
1.2.1 Larval respiration and feeding	1-3
1.2.2 Reproduction and host-feeding patterns	1-4
1.2.3 Oviposition	1-6
1.2.4 Overwintering	1-7
1.3 MOSQUITOES AS ARBOVIRUS VECTORS AND WEST NILE VIRUS IN NORTH AMERICA	1-9
1.4 MOSQUITOES OF CANADA	1-14
1.5 VECTOR DISPERSAL AND LAND-USE INFLUENCES	1-15
2 GENERAL METHODOLOGY	2-1
2 1 STUDY AREA	2-1
2.1 STODT AREA	····· 2-1 2-2
2.2 EARVAL COLLECTION	2-3
3 MOSOLIITO FAUNA OF NEWFOUNDLAND	3_1
	····· 0 1
3.1 INTRODUCTION	3-1
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	3-1
3.3 KESULTS	3-2
3.3.1 Notes on new records	3-4
3.3.2 Overview of mosquito survey	3-3
4 THE IMPACT OF LAND-USE ON MOSQUITO POPULATIONS OF	5-10
NEWFOUNDLAND	4-1
4.1 INTRODUCTION	4-1
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	4-2
4.3 Results	4-3
4.3.1 Mosquito larvae occurrence and abundance	4-3
4.3.2 Mosquito larvae of St. John's, Eastern Newfoundland	4-8
4.3.3 Mosquito larvae of Western Newfoundland	4-10
4.3.4 Adult mosquito occurrence and abundance	4-16
4.4 DISCUSSION	4-26
5 WEST NILE VIRUS SURVEILLANCE AND POTENTIAL TRANSMISSION IN	
NEWFOUNDLAND.	5-1
5 1 INTRODUCTION	5_1
5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	5-1 5-3
5.3 RESULTS	5-4

5.4 DISCUSSION	
6 CONCLUSION	
7 REFERENCES	
8 APPENDICES	
8.1 APPENDIX 1: FREQUENCY OF OCCURRENCE AND ABUNDANCE OF MOSQUITO SPEC Newfoundland and Labrador 2004-2005	CIES COLLECTED IN 8-1
8.2 APPENDIX 2: HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARDS OF NEWFOUNDLAND	AND LABRADOR 8-4

v

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1.1 A list of previously collected mosquito species in Newfoundland and Labrador and their first recordings
TABLE 2.1 Adult mosquito trapping schedule indicated by week sampled per year (-). 2-6
TABLE 3.1 Mosquito species recorded from Newfoundland and Labrador with distributions of those species collected during 2004-05. 3-3
TABLE 3.2 Comparison of community structure of adult and larval mosquitoes of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2004-05
TABLE 4.1 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of seven most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified between Eastern and Western regions of the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation)
 TABLE 4.2 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of total mosquito larvae identified in habitat types in Eastern and Western regions of the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation)
TABLE 4.3 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of the seven most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified in habitat types on the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).4-7
TABLE 4.4 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified between developed areas in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation)
TABLE 4.5 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified between habitat types in developed areas of Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation)
TABLE 4.6 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of the nine most abundant species of adult mosquitoes and total adults identified between Eastern and Western regions of the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD=standard deviation)4-14-17
TABLE 4.7 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per positive trap) of five most abundant species of adult mosquitoes and total adults identified among site groups in St. John's, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).4-18
TABLE 5.1 Distribution of corvids tested for West Nile virus infection in Newfoundland and Labrador health and community services boards, 2004-2005.
TABLE 8.1 Frequency of occurrence of species of larval and adult mosquitoes collected in Newfoundland and Labrador, 2004-2005. 4-7
TABLE 8.2 Cumulative abundance of species of larval (measured as individuals per dip) and adult mosquitoes collected in Newfoundland and Labrador, 2004-2005

TABLE 8.3	Total larval abundances of mosquito spe-	cies collected on the Isla	nd of Newfoundland, 2004-
2005			

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 2.1 Map of adult mosquito trapping sites through Deer Lake and the St. John's area
FIGURE 2.2 Map of Newfoundland and Labrador indicating mosquito sampling locations2-5
FIGURE 3.1 Proportional abundances of larvae a) and light trapped adult b) mosquito species collected regionally across insular Newfoundland, 2004-05
FIGURE 3.2 Rarefaction curves for mosquito larval communities in Newfoundland and Labrador calculated from total number of larvae collected
FIGURE 3.3 Rarefaction curves for adult mosquito communities in Newfoundland and Labrador
FIGURE 4.1 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the seven most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified in habitat types (n) on the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.2 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of three abundant species of mosquito larvae identified in habitat types (n) on the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.3 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the three most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in St. John's, Eastern Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.4 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of the three most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in St. John's, Eastern Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.5 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae in habitat types (n) identified from developed areas in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.6 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.7 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae combined in land-use categories (n) identified from developed areas in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.8 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of three most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005 4-15
FIGURE 4.9 Distribution of the mean abundance of adult female mosquitoes (measured as number per positive trap) from transect sites in St. John's, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.10 Distribution of the mean abundance of adult female mosquitoes (measured as number per positive trap) from transect sites in Deer Lake, 2004-2005
FIGURE 4.11 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of <i>Coquillettidia perturbans</i> in eastern and western Newfoundland in a) 2004 and b) 2005.

FIGURE 4.13 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of <i>Coquillettidia perturbans</i> and mean air temperature one week prior to trapping in Lundrigan's Marsh, St. John's, 2005
FIGURE 4.14 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of <i>Coquillettidia perturbans</i> and mean air temperature one week prior to trapping in Deer Lake 2005
FIGURE 4.15 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of <i>Culex pipiens</i> and mean air temperature one week prior to trapping in Deer Lake 2005
FIGURE 8.1 A map of Newfoundland and Labrador outlining the health and community services boards.

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1 Frequency of occurrence and abundance of mosquito species collected in Newfoundlan	ıd	
and Labrador, 2004-05	3-3	;
APPENDIX 2 Health and community services boards of Newfoundland and Labrador.	3-7	!

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

The mosquito family (Diptera: Culicidae) contains over three and a half thousand species classified into three subfamilies: Toxorhynchitinae, Anophelinae, and Culicinae. The Anophelinae includes three genera, the Toxorhynchitinae includes a single genus, and the subfamily Culicinae has 34 genera. Culicinae is the largest and most diversified subfamily thereby being divided into ten tribes. This is the classification currently followed in *A Catalog of the Mosquitoes of the World* (Knight and Stone 1977) and its three supplements (Ward 1992, Gaffigan and Ward 1985, Ward 1984, Knight 1978). The genus *Aedes*, contained in one of the largest Culicinae tribes Aedini, has recently been divided into two genera on the basis of characteristics of the female and male genitalia (Reinhert 2000). This new classification for the genus *Aedes*, by elevation of subgenus *Ochlerotatus* to generic rank, has not been universally acknowledged, but for this thesis I have accepted the designation of these taxa following Reinhert (2000).

Fifteen genera characterize the mosquito fauna of North America, representing the three subfamilies; one Toxorhynchitinae, three Anophelinae, and 11 Culicinae from seven tribes (Darsie and Ward 1981). Mosquitoes are of interest because of their epidemiological significance as vectors of pathogenic organisms and as nuisance pests. Aspects of a mosquito's life history which inhibit or improve pathogen cycles, such as its breeding habitat, blood-feeding behaviour, and potential to increase in numbers, become important. Changes in composition of mosquito fauna and life history strategies in a given area can significantly impact the risk to human and animal populations. These changes, whether due to climate or land use, may render mosquito breeding and/or

pathogen replication more favourable than previous to the change. The Island of Newfoundland (106, 000 km²) is primarily boreal forest habitat with peatlands being a particularly extensive and common type of wetland found in this ecozone (Wells and Pollett 1983). These habitats, as well as snowmelt pools, serve as primary breeding grounds for mosquitoes. The low productivity of lentic Newfoundland habitats, which is limited by low levels of nutrients, generally restricts aquatic insect faunal diversity (Larson and Colbo 1983). However, localized impacts of disturbance such as pollution, ranging from eutrophication to application of pesticides, and alteration of drainage systems and patterns may affect the composition of mosquito communities and the distribution of mosquito species due to these modifications of larval habitat. Historically, Newfoundland has had limited areas of land developed for agriculture or urbanization. Therefore marked recent expansion of these forms of land use provides a greater potential for changes in insect populations, depending on their ability to utilize these altered habitats. There are many studies that concentrate on the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on invasive mosquito species, or those of epidemiological significance, leading to artificial container breeding and increases in population size (Reiskind et al. 2004, Lounibos 2002, Andreadis et al. 2001, Beehler and Mulla 1995). There is little focus in the literature however about the transition of habitat from natural to disturbed and the potential subsequent change in the composition of mosquito fauna, particularly in a boreal ecozone.

1.1 Objectives

The objectives of this study were to (1) redefine mosquito species composition of insular Newfoundland, (2) evaluate the impact of land use, particularly urbanization and agricultural activities, on mosquitoes, and (3) estimate the level of risk for human and animal exposure to potential West Nile virus transmission in Newfoundland.

1.2 Mosquito life history

Like other true flies, mosquitoes exhibit complete metamorphosis and progress through seven stages of development, including egg, four larval instars, pupa, and adult. Larvae are restricted to aquatic environments, which are often small and shallow bodies of water with little or no water movement. These habitats can include shallow pools, sheltered stream edges, marshes, water-filled treeholes, plants, and artificial containers. Most species live in freshwater but a few have adapted to life in brackish or saline waters in salt marshes, rock pools, or inland saline pools (Clements 1992, Wood et al. 1979).

1.2.1 Larval respiration and feeding

Respiratory spiracles of culicine and toxorhynchitine larvae are situated at the end of a tube or siphon, at the end of the abdomen, and are open to the air as the larvae hang down from the water's surface. The spiracles of anopheline larvae are located on the dorsal surface of the last abdominal segment and therefore float parallel to the water surface, their spiracles opening through the air-water interface. Larvae of the Culicine genera *Mansonia* and *Coquillettidia*, remain permanently submerged and have modified siphons with spike-like structures that penetrate the tissues of freshwater macrophytes from which they obtain oxygen. Mosquito larvae use modified mandibles and maxillae (labial brushes) to obtain food from the water surface, typical of anopheline larvae, or the water column and substrate, as seen with culicine larvae. Food resources consist of microorganisms, such as bacteria, diatoms, and algae, and also particles of detritus derived largely from decayed plant tissues. Toxorhynchitine larvae however, are predatory on small invertebrates, as are a few species in the other two subfamilies. Feeding does not occur during the pupal stage in which the pupa floats at the air-water interface, respiring through the mesothoracic spiracles which open within large 'respiratory trumpets', the rims of which protrude through the water's surface (Clements 1999, Clements 1992).

1.2.2 Reproduction and host-feeding patterns

In many species, mating occurs when females are seized in male aerial swarms. These assemblages are sometimes made at locations of biological significance, such as their emergent sites or around their vertebrate hosts (Clements 1999). In others, males may approach isolated, resting females. Varieties of stimuli are used in mating behaviour, including volatile sex pheromones and female tone or wing beat frequency. Males use their antennae to orient to the sound and to the pheromones (Clements 1999). Male and female mosquitoes use their proboscis to obtain nectar and other plant juices as a source of carbohydrates to provide energy for survival, routine metabolic maintenance, and flight (Clements 1992). In addition, most female mosquito species are anautogenous (i.e. require a large amount of protein contained in a vertebrate blood meal for egg development); while some species are autogenous and can use protein reserves

accumulated during the larval stages to produce usually only the first batch of eggs (Clements 1992, Wood et al. 1979). In contrast, toxorhynchitine females subsist only on plant nectar and are rarely known to take blood meals, as is the case with the culicine *Wyeomyia smithii* (Coquillett). Blood-feeding female mosquitoes use chemoreceptors on the antennae and palps which are stimulated by carbon dioxide and body odours to detect the presence of a host. The females respond by flying upwind towards the host and use visual cues, thermal stimuli, and moisture for orientation as they approach (Clements 1999).

Mosquitoes are often classified as generalists or specialists with reference to their host-feeding patterns. Generalists, or opportunistic feeders, feed freely on a wide variety of host types; whereas specialists feed mainly on primary hosts and tend to limit feeding to specific host types. It should be noted however that many factors govern the hostfeeding pattern of mosquitoes including the innate tendencies of the mosquito that will determine its responsiveness to different potential hosts, the flight habits of the mosquito, the defensive behaviour of the potential hosts, and seasonal changes in host availability (Clements 1999). For the larger genera, limited information is known on host-feeding patterns of species; however, some generalizations can be made. Many *Anopheles* species feed exclusively on mammals, particularly significant to their medical importance in parasite transmission. It is suggested that mammals are also the primary hosts of most *Aedes/Ochlerotatus* species, while other species with opportunistic feeding behavior feed not only on mammals but also on birds and reptiles when available. The feeding patterns of only relatively few species of the large *Culex* genus are known. For some species the primary hosts are mammals and for others birds, while certain species feed regularly on both mammals and birds. In addition, a small percentage of *Culex* species feed on amphibians or reptiles such as *Culex territans* Walker which feeds almost exclusively on frogs (Wood et al. 1979). Mammals are the primary hosts of some *Culiseta* species while others feed primarily on birds, a pattern that is also seen in the *Mansonia* and *Coquillettidia* genera (Clements 1999).

1.2.3 Oviposition

An engorged female flies from her host to a suitable site for digestion of the blood meal and egg development. If blood feeding is disrupted by the defensive responses of the host and the volume of blood consumed is below that necessary to initiate egg development, a second partial meal is taken within minutes, or a few hours at most, of the first (Clements 1999). If the blood meal volume is sufficient, host-seeking and biting behaviours are inhibited. Between taking a blood meal and laying their eggs females are relatively inactive, although they may feed on plant juices during that time. Mature eggs will induce preoviposition behaviour and visual and chemical cues are used to identify habitats suitable for oviposition and subsequent larval development. The duration of a gonotrophic cycle, the period of time between one blood meal and the next, is affected by ambient temperature, which determines the rates at which the blood meals are digested and the ovaries develop (Clements 1999). Gonotrophic cycles may be as short as two or three days under tropical conditions and can extend to weeks under temperate and northern region conditions. Within a few hours or a day after oviposition, a female is again receptive to host cues and able to begin another gonotrophic cycle, of which she

may complete several in her lifetime. Wood et al. (1979) stated that five gonotrophic cycles in one year are probably the most a mosquito can achieve in Canada. Less than five percent of four major mosquito species of insular Newfoundland were found to complete three gonotrophic cycles (Mokry 1984).

Eggs may be dropped individually to float on the water surface, as by females of *Anopheles*, or packed together to form a floating egg raft, as by *Culex*. Several species, particularly the floodwater *Aedes/Ochlerotatus*, deposit their eggs on moist substrate, often at the edge of a body of water or on an area of soil that will be flooded. In addition to submergence in water, practically all aedine eggs require a hatching stimulus such as a decrease in oxygen concentration as well as increases in temperature (Clements 1992). Embryonic development in the egg is also dependent on temperature. Generally within a few days to weeks, a fully formed larva develops within the egg and is capable of hatching. Those laid on the surface of the water hatch as soon as development is complete.

1.2.4 Overwintering

The life span of adult mosquitoes may be several weeks to months in temperate regions, especially if the species overwinters in the adult stage. A critical event in the life cycle of Canadian mosquito species is the initiation and termination of diapause, which makes it possible for the mosquito to survive the winter. Wood et al. (1979) stated that overwintering is accomplished by Canadian mosquitoes in three basic types, distinguished by the stage of the life cycle: egg, larva, or adult female. The first group of species overwinters in the egg stage. Eggs laid by *Culiseta morsitans* (Theobald) and

almost all species of *Aedes/Ochlerotatus* enter a required diapause and will hatch only after being subjected to several weeks of cold temperatures, thus hatching is closely related to snowmelt. All species of *Psorophora* and 15 species of *Aedes/Ochlerotatus*, including *Ochlerotatus atropalpus* (Coquillett), *Ochlerotatus canadensis* (Theobald), *Ochlerotatus cantator* (Coquillett), *Aedes cinereus* Meigen, and *Aedes vexans* (Meigen), are similar but they are also capable of additional generations during the same summer if their eggs have dried and been subsequently reflooded. The time of their first hatching in the spring is also much more varied than *Cu. morsitans* and other *Aedes/Ochlerotatus* species. *Anopheles walkeri* Theobald is also a member of this group, overwintering in the egg stage and hatching in late spring, although this species differs because eggs of the first generation are laid on permanent water, so that development proceeds immediately, and many generations overlap allowing all stages to be encountered (Wood et al. 1979).

In the second group of species, the larval stage enters diapause in preparation for overwintering. Further subdivision of this group includes two univoltine (one generation per year) species: *Coquillettidia (Mansonia) perturbans* (Walker) and *Wy. smithii*, and a multivoltine subgroup which includes *Anopheles barberi* (Coquillett), *Toxorhynchites rutilus* (Coquillett), *Aedes sierrensis* (Ludlow), *Culiseta melanura* (Coquillett), *Orthopodomyia alba*Baker, *Orthopodomyia signifera* (Coquillett), and southern populations of *Wy. smithii*. Species of the third group overwinter as inseminated nonblood-fed females. Two northern species, *Culiseta alaskensis* Ludlow and *Culiseta impatiens* (Walker), have an extremely long life span of a year or more. Newly emerged females do not seek a blood meal in their first summer and are therefore among the

earliest species to seek blood the following spring. Other members of this group undergo successive summer generations, resulting in overlapping generations, including *Anopheles earlei* Vargas, *Anopheles freeborni* Aitken, *Anopheles punctipennis* (Say), and *Anopheles quadrimaculatus* Say; three species of *Culiseta*, *Culiseta incidens* (Thomson), *Culiseta inornata* (Williston), and *Culiseta minnesotae* Barr; all species of *Culex*; and *Uranotaenia sapphirina* (Osten Sacken) (Wood et al. 1979).

1.3 Mosquitoes as arbovirus vectors and West Nile virus in North America

Their innate blood-sucking tendency renders adult mosquitoes prone to acquire microorganisms and parasites from one vertebrate host and to pass them on to another, but even so, many aspects of a mosquito's ecology and physiology must be appropriate for it to acquire, harbour, and transmit a particular pathogen. With respect to arboviruses (arthropod-borne viruses), they are naturally maintained in cycles by haematophagous (blood-feeding) arthropods that biologically transmit viruses between vertebrate hosts; that is, the pathogens undergo a propagative mode of development in the arthropod vector before being transmitted to the next vertebrate host. Arboviruses achieve long-term survival by maintaining ongoing transmission between vertebrate hosts and vectors, prolonging infections of a host or vector, and by employing overwintering mechanisms. As a result, during periods of little or no transmission, the number of infected hosts and vectors declines (Woodring et al. 1996). The length and number of gonotrophic cycles a particular mosquito species exhibits relates to the extent to which transmission may be taking place. If a vector experiences more than one gonotrophic cycle in its life span, its

potential to be an effective vector increases because it is more likely to transmit a pathogen to a greater number of vertebrate hosts and possibly its progeny.

A pathogen cycle enters a transeasonal maintenance phase through overwintering mechanisms and an opportunity for transmission ceases (Woodring et al. 1996). Several strategies or mechanisms have been proposed or observed that permit pathogen survival during these adverse conditions. The virus can persist in the adult vector when an adult remains dormant during the unfavourable season. For example, Culex quinquefasciatus Say infected with St. Louis Encephalitis (SLE) virus has been shown to survive under natural winter conditions and remain infected (Chamberlain and Sudia 1961) as well as *Culex pipiens* Linnaeus with SLE virus (Bailey et al. 1978) and West Nile virus (WNV) (Nasci et al. 2001). The egg may also serve as a reservoir for virus when vertical transmission occurs, in which a virus-infected female transmits the pathogen to her progeny transovarially (Woodring et al. 1996). A study by Watts et al. (1973) indicated that female mosquitoes infected with La Crosse virus can transmit this virus transovarially to their progeny and these progeny can transmit this virus by bite, thus initiating a new transmission cycle. Various studies also indicate that WNV (Dohm et al. 2002b, Bagar et al. 1993) and the closely related Japanese Encephalitis (JE) (Rosen et al. 1989, Rosen et al. 1978) and SLE viruses (Hardy et al. 1984, Francy et al. 1981) can be transmitted vertically by their mosquito vectors. This would allow female mosquitoes to become infected either transovarially or by ingesting a viremic blood meal in the late fall, survive the winter, and reintroduce the virus the next spring.

In the case of arboviruses, the vector provides a specific physical and chemical site that permits the pathogen to increase in numbers. Turell et al. (2002) outlined the several steps that must occur for a mosquito to transmit a virus by bite: (a) the mosquito must ingest a viremic blood meal; (b) the virus must then replicate in the midgut and 'escape' into the hemocoel, replicate throughout the body of the mosquito until it gets into the salivary glands, replicate in the salivary glands, and eventually be excreted into the saliva; (c) the infectious mosquito now must probe a susceptible host. In biological transmission of an arbovirus, the period between ingestion of an infectious blood meal and transmission capability or secretion of virus into the saliva, is known as the extrinsic incubation (EI) period (Turell et al. 2002, Woodring et al. 1996). In addition, the appropriate viral receptors must be present on the epithelial cells in the midgut of a mosquito, which ingests a viremic blood meal, for a viron to bind to that receptor and hence initiate the infection process (Turell et al. 2002). Therefore, there are multiple barriers a pathogen must overcome to be transmitted by the bite of a mosquito and these barriers will partially determine a vector's competence.

Turell et al. (2002) stated that if the proper conditions exist (i.e. temperature, mosquito species, mosquito population density, number of susceptible hosts, etc.), an epizootic outbreak of a disease will occur in a host population. Vector population size also plays an important role in disease transmission and will determine the number of contacts between vectors and susceptible hosts, a key factor in the epidemiology of a given disease. In addition, to transmit a pathogen successfully from one host to another, a mosquito must have a high probability of biting an infected host and in the case of

arboviruses, also must live long enough to bite another uninfected host after the EI period. Therefore longevity is very significant in determining how efficiently a mosquito species spreads a pathogen. Adult survival rate is one, if not the most important factor determining the stability of the population and total egg production because long-lived females can produce many eggs (Clements 1992). Thus, the longer a vector lives, the greater the probability of feeding after the EI period, resulting in more opportunities for transmission.

West Nile virus is a member of the flavivirus genus (Flaviviridae) which includes more than 70 distinct agents. WNV belongs to the Japanese encephalitis (JE) antigenic serogroup, as do SLE, JE, and Murray Valley encephalitis viruses (Mackenzie et al. 2002). All known members of this group are transmissible by mosquitoes and many of them can cause febrile, sometimes fatal, illnesses in humans. WNV was first isolated in 1937 from the blood of a febrile patient in the West Nile district of Uganda and was subsequently recognized as the most widespread of the flaviviruses, with a geographic distribution including Africa and Eurasia (Drebot et al. 2003, Hubálek and Halouzka 1999).

The first documented incursion of this virus into North America occurred during the summer of 1999 when an outbreak of neurological illness among humans, birds, and horses was identified in the New York City area (Nash et al. 2001, Anderson et al. 1999, Lanciotti et al. 1999). By 2002, WNV activity was documented in Quebec, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Nova Scotia and recursion occurred in Ontario. It has spread to all continental states of the US, excluding Alaska, and to date seven Canadian provinces (Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Quebec, Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta, and Saskatchewan).

It is thought that the establishment of this pathogen within a certain area requires the presence of at least one primary mosquito species vector of WNV. In general, *Culex* species mosquitoes serve as vectors and passerine birds are vertebrate reservoirs in enzootic WNV transmission cycles. Since the New York outbreak in 1999 until 2001, WNV was recovered from 27 mosquito species in North America, including *Cx. pipiens*, *Culex restuans* Theobald, *Culex salinarius* Coquillett, *Oc. canadensis, Ochlerotatus japonicus* (Theobald), *Ae. vexans,* and *Cs. melanura* (CDC 2000, CDC 2001). To date, 60 mosquito species have been found in West Nile positive mosquito pools in the United States since 1999.

In Canada, 20 arboviruses have been found in either arthropod or vertebrate hosts, eight of which are known to cause disease in humans (Artsob 1990). Each is maintained in an enzootic amplification cycle of transmission between its mosquito or tick hosts and a range of wild birds and/or mammals that are normal vertebrate hosts and reservoirs, which again infect subsequent feeding mosquitoes or ticks. Periodically these viruses are transmitted by their arthropod vectorss to animals that are not their normal vertebrate hosts, such as horses or people, can occur. These hosts do not develop sufficient viremia to infect mosquitoes and therefore do not play a role in virus amplification and are considered to be incidental or "dead-end" hosts. Recent vector competence studies indicate that some North American *Culex* and *Ochlerotatus* species are relatively efficient laboratory vectors (Turell et al. 2001, Sardelis et al. 2001). In addition, mosquito species that are general feeders, and take blood meals from birds and mammals, likely act as the principal 'bridge vectors' of WNV, transmitting the virus to incidental hosts (Turell et al. 2002, White et al. 2001).

1.4 Mosquitoes of Canada

The mosquito fauna of Canada is characterized by ten genera that include six Anopheles, one Toxorhynchites, 47 Aedes/Ochlerotatus, five Culex, seven Culiseta, one Coquillittidia, two Orthopodomyia, four Psorophora, one Uranotaenia, and one Wyeomyia species. The mosquito fauna of Newfoundland and Labrador is dominated by widespread boreal species, most of which have island-wide distributions, although six of the previously recorded 30 species of the province were exclusive to Labrador, including one member of Anopheles, and two Culex, which were rarely found (Colbo 2003). Twenty-one Aedes/Ochleratatus, five Culiseta, and one Wyeomyia species were also recorded in the province (Colbo 2003, Nielsen and Mokry 1982b). The larvae of three species of mosquitoes on the island live in specialized habitats; these are Wy. smithii, which inhabits the water-filled leaves of pitcher plants, Oc. cantator, recorded to be found in saline rock pools along the coast, and Oc. atropalpus found in rock pools along rivers. Other species commonly found in the Maritimes include two Anopheles, eight Aedes/Ochlerotatus, two Culex, and Cq. perturbans (Wood et al. 1979). In addition, a recently introduced mosquito species in Canada is Oc. japonicus, which has become established in southern Ontario and Quebec (Darsie 2002). This species was introduced to North America from east Asia and was first detected in Connecticut and New Jersey, US, in 1998 (Andreadis et al. 2001, Peyton et al. 1999) and has since quickly extended its range.

1.5 Vector dispersal and land-use influences

There are several mosquito life history types, however larval habitats are concentrated in areas of permanent water or natural or artificial containers. Several environmental factors, including human activities, enhance vector population densities by creating such habitats. The formation of ditches, impounded water pools, agricultural land with increased nutrients, and standing containers such as tires, form niches enabling the mass breeding of mosquitoes (Mitchell 1996). An increase in these areas affects the distribution and abundance of mosquitoes thereby increasing the probability of a disease outbreak, assuming that an appropriate vector species is present; a widespread, abundant mosquito population needs to be in place to support epidemic expansion.

Turell et al. (2002) stated that the recent spread of JE virus into Asia and Australia has probably been through natural mosquito-vertebrate host cycles, possibly assisted by changes in land use. In fact, the potential of these habitats as opportunities waiting to be colonized by mosquito species is clearly recognized. For example, Day (2001) showed that dry conditions from mid-September through to the end of a year resulted in increased mosquito breeding in open sewage ditches, which provided an excellent source of organic-rich water in which *Culex* vectors of SLE virus could oviposit. Not only do transient water bodies, those that form in tree cavities or seasonal waterways for instance, provide an opportunity for breeding that might not otherwise exist in a dry region, but even in moist and temperate areas, they offer the further advantage of helping mosquitoes evade predators. Urbanization often leads to the lack of proper drainage of surface water,

resulting in an increase in vector breeding, an increase in human-vector contact, and an increase in pathogen transmission.

In recent centuries, human travel, trade, and development have repeatedly introduced species to new habitats and, for that matter, created entirely new habitats. An increase in larval habitats may not only alter mosquito populations already present, but also create a potential for habitat-specific mosquitoes, or opportunistic species, which may not have previously colonized an area, to establish (Lounibos 2002, Peyton et al. 1999). A common example is the highly publicized invasion of the Asian tiger mosquito, *Aedes albopictus* (Skuse), facilitated by tire shipments to the US. This treehole-breeding species spills over into artificial containers (Lounibos 2002) which offer a perfect counterpart to its natural habitat. An abundance of these habitats has allowed the establishment of this and several other species, such as the previously mentioned *Ochlerotatus japonicus* (Lounibos 2002, Peyton et al. 1999).

Aedes albopictus has been found infected with Eastern Equine Encephalitis (EEE) (Mitchell et al. 1992), LaCrosse encephalitis (Gerhardt et al. 2001), and WN viruses (Turell et al. 2002) since its establishment in North America. *Aedes albopictus* is a known vector of Dengue virus in its native range and has been found infected in Mexico and Brazil (Lounibos 2002), possibly playing a role in transmission, in addition to being a bridge vector for Sylvan yellow fever, and WNV (Turell et al. 2002). Evidently, the introduction of non-native mosquito species and the availability of a suitable habitat could render their pathogen-transmitting capabilities of significance to human populations if proper conditions, such as high population density, were sustained.

Furthermore, high population density will also permit some vectors that are otherwise poor hosts to a pathogen to be of significance. Hubálek and Halouzka (1999) report that in Africa and the Middle East, the main vector of WNv is *Culex univittatus* Theobald, in Europe the principle vectors are *Cx. pipiens, Culex modestus* Ficalbi, and *Coquillettidia richiardii* (Ficalbi), and in Asia, *Cx. quinquefasciatus, Culex tritaeniorhynchus* Giles, and *Culex vishnui* Theobald predominate. This shows that mosquito species are principle vectors in relation to their respective geographical region and their population abundance within these regions, thereby contributing to the proper conditions necessary for an epizootic outbreak of a disease to occur in a host population.

The last extensive mosquito survey was performed on the island of Newfoundland in 1981, including portions of the island which had not previously been systematically collected, such as the Northern Peninsula (Nielsen and Mokry 1982b). During this survey, four unreported species were found for the first time, *Ochlerotatus diantaeus* Howard, Dyar and Knab, *Ochlerotatus hexodontus* Dyar, *Ochlerotatus pionips* Dyar, and *Cs. melanura*. These species were further to the reporting of three additional species, *Ae. atropalpus*, *Ochlerotatus decticus* Howard, Dyar and Knab, and *Ochlerotatus sticticus* (Meigen). Insular Newfoundland's mosquito fauna was poorly known until this time and only four publications were available with information concerning the species on the island (Nielsen and Mokry 1982b). A checklist of species known to occur on the island up to this date included 19 *Aedes/Ochlerotatus*, three *Culiseta* species, and *Wy. smithii*. Since this survey, several other species have been added including *Culex* and *Anopheles* species; refer to Table 1.1 for a complete species list.

	Previous collection locations	First Record
Aedes cinereus Meigen	Island-wide; Labrador	Wood et al. (1979)
Aedes vexans (Meigen)	Labrador	Colbo, MUN collection
Anopheles earlei Vargas	Labrador	Haufe (1952)
Culex restuans Theobald	Avalon Peninsula	Mokry, MUN collection
Culex territans Walker	Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Culiseta alaskensis Ludlow	Labrador	Haufe (1952)
Culiseta impatiens (Walker)	Island-wide; Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Culiseta melanura (Coquillett)	Near St. John's, Avalon Peninsula	Nielsen and Mokry (1982a)
Culiseta minnesotae Barr	Near St. John's, Avalon Peninsula	Mokry, MUN collection
Culiseta morsitans (Theobald)	Island-wide; Labrador	Pickavance et al. (1970)
Ochlerotatus abserratus (Felt and Young)	Island-wide; Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Ochlerotatus atropalpus (Coquillett)	Grand Falls, Burin Peninsula, Labrador	Nielsen and Mokry (1982b)
Ochlerotatus canadensis (Theobald)	Island-wide; Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Ochlerotatus cantator (Coquillett)	Avalon, Burin, and Northern Peninsulas; Labrador	Vockeroth (1954)
Ochlerotatus communis (DeGeer)	Island-wide ; Labrador	Wood et al. (1979)
Ochlerotatus decticus Howard, Dyar and Knab	Avalon Peninsula; Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Nielsen and Mokry (1982b)
Ochlerotatus diantaeus Howard, Dyar and Knab	Near Plum Point, Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Nielsen and Mokry (1982b)
Ochlerotatus excrucians (Walker)	Island-wide; Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Ochlerotatus fitchii (Felt and Young)	Island-wide, excluding Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Ochlerotatus flavescens (Muller)	Labrador	Haufe (1952)
Ochlerotatus hexodontus Dyar	Hare Bay and Pistolet Bay, Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Nielsen and Mokry (1982b)
Ochlerotatus impiger (Walker)	Labrador	* • •
Ochlerotatus implicatus Vockeroth	Southwestern Region; Labrador	Wood et al. (1979)
Ochlerotatus intrudens Dyar	Avalon Peninsula; Labrador	Pickavance et al. (1970)
Ochlerotatus nigripes (Zetterstedt)	St. Anthony, Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Vockeroth (1954)
Ochlerotatus pionips Dyar	Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Nielsen and Mokry (1982b)
Ochlerotatus pullatus (Coquillett)	Northern Peninsula; Labrador	Vockeroth (1954)
Ochlerotatus punctor (Kirby)	Island-wide; Labrador	Freeman (1952)
Ochlerotatus sticticus (Meigen)	Little Power Pond, Avalon Peninsula; Labrador	Nielsen and Mokry (1982b)
Ochlerotatus stimulans (Walker)	Logy Bay, Avalon Peninsula	Pickavance et al. (1970)
Wyeomyia smithii (Coquillett)	Island-wide; Labrador	Freeman (1952)

Table 1.1 A list of previously collected mosquito species in Newfoundland and Labrador and their first recordings.

Note: Reporting is based on species first recorded on insular Newfoundland, except those species exclusive to Labrador. * Wood et al. examined specimens of this species, although for this purpose, previous literature could not be found. MUN (Memorial University of Newfoundland). Limited data on mosquito populations are available for the western portion of the province, an area of interest when considering potential species introductions from the mainland. Furthermore, the recent introduction of West Nile virus to North America has prompted renewed research on mosquitoes and the impact of human activity on them in Newfoundland. Changes in large expanses of land in the province for agriculture and urbanization can greatly affect the amount of nutrients entering mosquito breeding habitats and their distribution, thus having the potential to change the mosquito community. This change is of particular interest to people and domestic animals because of their proximity to breeding habitats and the threat of viral transmission. A changing climate may also compound this situation further by influencing mosquito species' distribution, establishment, and vector capabilities in addition to land-use alterations.

2 GENERAL METHODOLOGY

2.1 Study area

A comparison of mosquito communities influenced by agricultural and urban landuse was conducted in the primary area of study of insular Newfoundland with particular focus on St. John's (46°37'N, 52°45'W) and Deer Lake (49°10'N, 57°26'W) areas in 2004 and 2005 (Figure 2.1). Furthermore, Terra Nova and Gros Morne National Parks, both in proximate area to these respective urban centers, represented natural areas of little to no disturbance to mosquito breeding sites (Figure 2.2).

The St. John's area is located in the Maritime Barrens Ecoregion with extensive barren areas consisting of mainly dwarf shrub heaths, bogs, shallow fens, as well as forest patches dominated by fir, *Abies balsamea* (Linnaeus) Miller, black spruce, *Picea mariana* Miller, and white spruce, *Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss. Fires occur regularly in this region and sheep laurel, *Kalmia angustifolia* Linnaeus, is the dominant species of the dwarf shrub heath that has replaced a large portion of the forest (Damman 1983). This ecoregion is characterized most clearly by the coolness of the summer and the relatively mild winters and high fog frequency with annual precipitation 1200 to 1700mm (Banfield 1983).

The Deer Lake area lies within the heavily forested and topographically varied Western Newfoundland Ecoregion. *Abies balsamea*, the predominate forest tree throughout; peatlands, covering rather extensive areas; the diverse and luxuriant vegetation of the alluvial alder swamps further characterize this ecoregion (Damman 1983). The most favourable growing conditions found on Newfoundland occur in this

region, due to a relatively long vegetative season and a generally warm summer. The warmest valleys on the island occur in this ecoregion and the Long Range Mountains protect it from cold northeasterly winds, resulting in a distinctly longer frost-free season than adjacent regions (Damman 1983), although much more than its eastern counterpart. Annual precipitation is 900 to 1100mm for lowland areas but can be more moderate near sea level with 1000 to 1200mm (Banfield 1983).

To broaden the coverage of the Province, ten Provincial Parks and one Nature Park were sampled for a larger survey area of the island from east to west coast in 2004. In 2005, additional intensive sampling focused on the west coast of the island and included the town of Cormack, approximately 15 kilometres northeast of Deer Lake, and the city of Corner Brook, approximately 44 kilometres southwest of Deer Lake (Figure 2.2). Cormack is primarily a livestock farming town lying within the Central Lowlands continental climate, in which Deer Lake is situated. However, Corner Brook, an urban coastal city, although within the Western Newfoundland Ecoregion, typically does not experience the prolonged high summer temperatures and is windier than the more sheltered valleys and inland locations (Banfield 1983).

2.2 Larval collection

Digital photographs and maps were consulted to identify standing water or potential breeding sites of mosquitoes in urban areas. Larval sampling procedures followed Service (1993b) using a standard 250mL dipper and average abundances (no./dip) were calculated from five dips per pool. Several site characteristics were recorded including dominant plant species, habitat type, and measurements of larval habitat condition such as pH, conductivity, and temperature. Sampling in 2004 consisted of a general survey of larvae. Twelve larval sites were identified in the St. John's area and ten in Deer Lake during this year. These sites were sampled in the beginning of the larval mosquito season before the presence/emergence of adults (week 19-23 in St. John's, week 24 & 30 in Deer Lake). Larvae were also collected in Terra Nova and Gros Morne National Parks and Notre Dame Provincial Park during this time. Larvae were sampled more regularly in 2005 from weeks 18 to 30 at 24 sites in the St. John's area, 12 in Deer Lake, 11 in Cormack, and eight in Corner Brook. Larvae were identified to species using Wood et al. (1979) and Darsie and Ward (1981).

2.3 Adult collection

Adult mosquitoes were collected using the New Standard miniature light traps, Model 1012, (John W. Hock Company, Gainesville, FL) following Service (1993a). Light traps were baited with approximately 0.7 kilograms of dry ice in an insulated container suspended from a tree1.5 to 2 metres above ground. Traps were sheltered from the wind as much as possible two to three metres within a tree stand. The traps were placed in the field before dusk and retrieved the following morning; light was deployed from dusk until dawn using the traps photoswitch. Samples were frozen until enumeration and identification in the lab, at which point other large insects were removed and a portion of the remaining sample was chosen at random. Female mosquitoes were removed individually until a count of 30 was reached and the entire sample of mosquitoes was then counted. With the use of a dissecting microscope, the 30 females were identified to species using Wood et al. (1979), Darsie and Ward (1981), and Thielman
and Hunter (2004). When species could not be distinguished, they were either classified as a group (e.g. *Ochlerotatus punctor/abserratus*) or to the level of genus (e.g. *Ochlerotatus* spp.). In the urban areas, transects were established to sample from the rural surrounding environment through the urban core. Sampling sites in St. John's increased from seven in 2004 to ten in 2005 (Figure 2.1) and two five-site transects were chosen in Deer Lake (Figure 2.1). Adult collections expanded in 2005 to include the addition of three trapping sites in the agricultural area of Cormack as well as the urban centre of Corner Brook. Relative adult collection schedules for each location in the two year study are shown in Table 2.1.



Figure 2.1 Map of adult mosquito trapping sites through Deer Lake and the St. John's area.



Figure 2.2 Map of Newfoundland and Labrador indicating mosquito sampling locations.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				20	04					•						
		JU	NE			JU	LY	•		AUG	UST		SE	РТЕ	MBE	CR
						1		We	ek							
Location	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38
St. John's		i in					-	•			4.		4		-	
Deer Lake					-			-	-					-		
Happy Valley-Goose Bay			10. S					30r	-				242	4.		
Terra Nova National Park																
South West Arm	1					-										
Newman Sound Campground			•			2000 BODO - 400 M			-			000000000000000000000000000000000000000				
Sandy Pond													•		200 - A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A	
North West River		*****													-	-220 4000000000
Gros Morne National Park	·••		100	С ICE						a ini						
St. Paul's					-											
Western Brook Pond						22				÷.	1			2		
Sally's Cove											-					
Green Point		i.si				- 14							ulu.	. .		
Baker's Brook															-	
Butter Pot Provincial Park	100		-		•	-								<u> (</u>		nigel e
Notre Dame Provincial Park						-					-		3 403/10/10/2010			
Squires Memorial Provincial Park	900	3					-			÷						
La Manche Provincial Park	2010							-				ANAL MALE AND A				
Blow Me Down Provincial Park						-i::		1								
Lockston Path Provincial Park			*******						-	1000-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00			2.000004.0000000			
Pinware River Provincial Park					1								14.6			
Barachois Pond Provincial Park							85-245-63e-10-100			-		-				
JT Cheeseman Provincial Park	revised.	a.				30.002		1000		•		1879 B.C.				
Dildo Run Provincial Park										-			21.249.01044.000			
Salmonier Nature Park		922						1999 1999								
				20	05											
St. John's	Q	-	-	-		-	-	-	÷.,	··	-	•	÷.,	- 1	<u>199 (</u>	
Deer Lake	-	-	-		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-			-
Cormack		-		•		-		-		•	-					
Corner Brook	-		-			*****	-				-				son and the	
Terra Nova National Park									1							
South West Arm		-	-	-	-	- -	-		-	-			-		-	
Newman Sound Campground		-	-		Tutta	•	•		- 1			2 1	-			
Ken Diamond Park			-	-	-	-	-	MT61-15580	-	-			-	0.000 (1990)	-	N-VORADORN
Gros Morne National Park			1					246				2.				
Rocky Harbour Pond		<u>_</u>	-	-	-	-	-									
Green Point	366.6111-	-	-	-	-	•	-							1. 1		
Bakers Brook Falls		-	-	-	-	-	· _									

 Table 2.1
 Adult mosquito trapping schedule indicated by week sampled per year (-).

3 MOSQUITO FAUNA OF NEWFOUNDLAND

3.1 Introduction

In Chapter 1, it was noted that no thorough study of mosquitoes in Newfoundland had been carried out since the early 1980's, when 24 species were found on the island (Nielsen and Mokry 1982b). The purpose of this study was to re-examine the composition of the mosquito fauna of Newfoundland given the changes in land-use. Thus, one aim of this chapter is to outline species found and their distribution as shown by the current study and compare these findings to previous research. Another objective of the present study was to evaluate the potential for additional species to colonize Newfoundland and the potential of current or new species as vectors of human and animal diseases. These findings can then be used to evaluate the need for further research and monitoring.

3.2 Materials and Methods

Larval and adult mosquito collection and identification followed procedures outlined in Chapter 2. The larval sampling technique used for *Coquillettidia perturbans* followed the methods of Romanowski and Candeletti (1984). DNA extraction and sequencing on the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) gene of 18 individuals, morphologically identified in 2004 as *Culex pipiens/restuans*, was performed using PCR (polymerase chain reaction) amplification by the National Microbiology Laboratory in Winnipeg to confirm morphological identifications. Voucher specimens of all taxa identified have been deposited in the MUN collection. A species rarefaction (PRIMER v.6 β) was calculated using mosquito species abundances collected in each region (St. John's, Eastern Parks, Central Cormack, Deer Lake, Corner Brook, Western Parks, and Labrador). Diversity describes species richness and equitability (or relative abundance of species) and was calculated for mean larval and adult abundances in PRIMER v.6 β using the Shannon-Weaver diversity index H': H'= $-\sum p_i \ln p_i$ where p_i = the proportion of i^{th} mosquito species in the total sample collection for each region.

3.3 Results

A total of twenty-five species of mosquitoes from seven genera was collected in this study; one *Anopheles*, one *Coquillettidia*, two *Culex*, four *Culiseta*, one *Aedes*, 15 *Ochlerotatus*, and one *Wyeomyia* species. A complete species list and distributions of species found in this study are shown in Table 3.1. Five species are reported for the first time in the province, *Ae. vexans*, *Cq. perturbans*, *Cx. pipiens*, *Cs. minnesotae* and *Oc. provocans*. *Aedes vexans* and *Cs. minnesotae* were previously collected (Memorial University of Newfoundland Collection) but not recorded in the literature. Two species are also reported for the first time from the island, *An. earlei* and *Cx. territans*. Nine previously collected species from the province that were not represented in this study include *Cx. restuans*, *Cs. alaskensis*, *Oc. atropalpus*, *Ochlerotatus flavescens* (Muller), *Oc. hexodontus*, *Ochlerotatus impiger* (Walker), *Oc. sticticus*, and *Ochlerotatus stimulans* (Walker).

	St. John's	Eastern Parks	Central Parks	Cormack	Deer Lake	Corner Brook	Western Parks	Labrador
n	456	62	12	128	294	95	47	6
Aedes cinereus Meigen	В	В	В	В	В	L	В	
Aedes vexans (Meigen) ^{1,3}								
Anopheles earlei Vargas ²			Α		A	L		
Coquillettidia perturbans (Walker) ¹	Α	Α	Α	Α	A	Α	Α	
Culex restuans Theobald ³								
Culex pipiens Linnaeus ¹				Α	в	A		
Culex territans Walker ²		Α		. L	L	L		
Culiseta alaskensis Ludlow ³								
Culiseta impatiens (Walker)		Α			В	Α	А	Α
Culiseta melanura (Coquillett)	Α	Α						
Culiseta minnesotae Barr	в	Α			Α	В	A	
Culiseta morsitans (Theobald)	B	в	Α	В	В	B	В	Α
Ochlerotatus abserratus (Felt and Young)	B	В	Α	A	Α	Α	Α	Α
Ochlerotatus atropalpus (Coquillett) ³								
Ochlerotatus canadensis (Theobald)	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	
Ochlerotatus cantator (Coquillett)	В	Α	Α				Α	
Ochlerotatus communis (DeGeer)	A	В	В	. B	В	В	В	
Ochlerotatus decticus Howard, Dyar & Knab	L	В			Α			
Ochlerotatus diantaeus Howard, Dyar & Knab	A	Α			В		Α	
Ochlerotatus excrucians (Walker)	В	Α	Α	в	в	в	Α	Α
Ochlerotatus fitchii (Felt and Young)				В	в	L	А	
Ochlerotatus flavescens (Mueller) ³								
Ochlerotatus hexodontus Dyar ³								
Ochlerotatus impiger (Walker) ³								
Ochlerotatus implicatus Vockeroth			Α	L	в			
Ochlerotatus intrudens Dyar		Α			В			
Ochlerotatus nigripes (Zetterstedt)								Α
Ochlerotatus pionips Dyar				L	L	L		Α
Ochlerotatus provocans (Walker) ¹				В	в	L		
Ochlerotatus pullatus (Coquillett)				Α	Α			
Ochlerotatus punctor (Kirby)	В	В	В	В	В	В	в	Α
Ochlerotatus sticticus (Meigen) ³								
Ochlerotatus stimulans (Walker) ³								. i
Wyeomyia smithii (Coquillett)	L	L				÷		
Number of collected taxa	14	17	11	15	21	16	13	7

Table 3.1 Mosquito species recorded from Newfoundland and Labrador withdistributions of those species collected during 2004-05.

¹ New record for the province

A indicates only adult collection

² New record for insular Newfoundland

³ Previously collected species not found in this study

L indicates only larval collection

B indicates larval and adult collections

3.3.1 Notes on new records

Anopheles earlei Vargas

A single larva of this species was collected in Corner Brook, on the outer fringe of the city in a fen among emergent vegetation. Although this is a typical habitat for this species, return visits failed to recover more larvae. One adult was collected in a light trap in Notre Dame Provincial Park, in the north central region of the island, and three in Deer Lake.

Coquillettidia perturbans (Walker)

No larvae of this species were collected although there were repeated attempts to collect larvae by inspecting macrophytes extracted from a known location of abundant adults. Adults were found to have an island-wide distribution. This species was the second most abundant species collected, occurring in very high densities in close proximity to cattail marshes by Lundrigan's Marsh in St. John's and Corner Brook Marsh.

Culex pipiens Linnaeus

Three larvae of this species were collected in Deer Lake. The larvae were found in a ditch and a water filled depression within the town and in association with *Cx. territans*. Adults were collected primarily from Deer Lake, being found in all ten sites within the town, with few collections from Cormack and Corner Brook, two and three individuals respectively.

Culex territans Walker

Larvae were collected in Deer Lake, Corner Brook, and Cormack, primarily in ditches as well as marsh/swamp habitat, agricultural depressions, and stream margins. They were abundant and found most commonly in association with *Cs. morsitans* and *Cx. pipiens*, as well as *Ae. cinereus*, *Cs. minnesotae*, and *Oc. canadensis*. One adult was collected at Southwest Arm in Terra Nova National Park within fen habitat formed by old beaver dams along a stream surrounded by a coniferous forest.

Culiseta minnesotae Barr

Larvae of this species were collected only once from Corner Brook Marsh, in association with *Cs. morsitans* and *Cx. territans*, and several times from exposed urban and agricultural ground depressions filled with water in St. John's, in association with *Ae. cinereus*. Larvae were collected in dense clumps of vegetation, predominately sedge. Light trapped adults were collected island-wide throughout the season.

Ochlerotatus provocans Walker

Larvae were collected primarily in Cormack ditches and woodland snowmelt pools dominated by sedges. One and two larvae of this species were collected in Corner Brook and Deer Lake respectively. The larvae were most commonly found in association with *Ochlerotatus communis* (DeGeer), and *Ochlerotatus abserratus* (Felt and Young), as well as with *Ae. cinereus*, *Ochlerotatus intrudens* Dyar, *Ochlerotatus fitchii* (Felt and Young), and *Oc. canadensis*. Adults were collected in conifer forested locations, primarily in low abundance in Deer Lake and two individuals were found in Cormack.

3.3.2 Overview of mosquito survey

Frequency of occurrence and abundance results of larval and adult surveys are shown in Appendix 1. Four species, in order of abundance, *Oc. canadensis*, *Oc. communis*, *Ochlerotatus punctor* (Kirby), and *Cx. territans*, accounted for over 84% of

the total 3167 larvae collected. Six species of adults, in order of abundance, Oc.

canadensis, *Cq. perturbans*, *Oc. abserratus/punctor*, *Oc. communis*, *Cs. morsitans*, and *Ochlerotatus excrucians* (Walker), accounted for almost 82% of the total 5276 identified from subsamples of the 46,006 collected. Figure 3.1 shows proportional abundances of mosquito species collected in the western and eastern regions of insular Newfoundland. Of the 25 species collected, 88 percent, or 22 species were represented in the western portion of the island, compared to only 68 percent in the eastern portion with 17 species collected. *Culex pipiens*, *Oc. fitchii*, *Oc. pionips*, *Ochlerotatus provocans* (Walker), and *Ochlerotatus pullatus* (Coquillett) were found only in the west. *Culiseta melanura* and *Wy. smithii* were collected only in the east.

Results of the adult and larval diversity analysis are shown in Table 3.2. The richest fauna occurred at Deer Lake in which 15 and 18 mosquito species were captured of the total 20 larval and 23 adult mosquito species found. However, the region with the highest Shannon-Weaver diversity index value for larvae (1.78) was Cormack with 11 species. Five species, Oc. *canadensis* (33.6%), *Oc. communis* (29.5%), *Oc. punctor* (12.4%), *Ae. cinereus* (8.5%), and *Cx. territans* (6.4%) accounted for 90.4% of larvae identified from this region. In order to make direct comparisons of species richness among locations where different numbers of larvae were found, a rarefaction calculation for randomly collected larvae from each location was performed. Cormack had the highest species richness of 8.4 species (Figure 3.2). Deer Lake had the highest diversity index value (2.38) for adult mosquitoes and six species, *Cq. perturbans* (19.4%), *Oc. excrucians* (12.7%), *Oc. diantaeus* (11.9%), *Oc. canadensis* (10.6%), *Oc. communis*

(10.3%), and *Cx. pipiens* (9.1%), accounted for 73.9% of adults identified from this region. To be able to compare species richness among areas where different numbers of adults were collected, rarefaction calculations were made on the samples of 30 random individuals identified from each location. Deer Lake had the highest species richness of ten species (Figure 3.3).

	No. of	species	 Larval Diversity 	Adult Diversity	
Region	Larvae	Adults	Index H'	Index H'	
Labrador	0	6	0.00	1.48	
Western Parks	4	12	1.13	1.37	
Corner Brook	12	8	1.57	1.15	
Deer Lake	15	18	1.67	2.38	
Cormack	11	11	1.78	1.51	
Central Parks	4	10	1.36	1.74	
Eastern Parks	7	15	1.54	1.79	
St. John's	9	10	1.39	1.62	

Table 3.2 Comparison of community structure of adult and larval mosquitoes of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2004-05.

Figure 3.1 Proportional abundances of larvae a) and light trapped adult b) mosquito species collected regionally across insular Newfoundland, 2004-05.

Figure 3.2 Rarefaction curves for mosquito larval communities in Newfoundland and Labrador calculated from total number of larvae collected.

Figure 3.3 Rarefaction curves for adult mosquito communities in Newfoundland and Labrador.

3.4 Discussion

The current study recorded five species new to the island and thus shows the value of monitoring the mosquito fauna over time. Mosquito species not detected by repeated surveys are either ones that are rare and thus not often taken in sampling programs (Wood et al. 1979), occur in special habitats, e.g. *Wy. smithii* in pitcher plants, or are species extending their range from elsewhere (Nielsen and Mokry 1982a). Thus even in well surveyed areas additional taxa are being found (Darsie and Ward 2000).

The new record of *Cx. pipiens* for the province is of particular interest epidemiologically because of its known importance as an effective vector in the transmission of SLE and WNV in parts of central and eastern North America (Drebot et al. 2003, Wood et al. 1979, Turell et al. 2002). The importance of this species and similar *Culex* species, such as *Cx. restuans*, is primarily due to two main aspects of their biology. First, they are almost exclusively bird biting mosquitoes (Turell et al. 2002) and as such, are responsible for driving the amplification cycle in the avian population. Secondly, they are prolific breeders preferring to lay their eggs in stagnant enriched water, a habitat which is often increased by human land-use practices. Therefore, either *Cx. pipiens* or implicated bridge vectors have the opportunity to infect mammals of close proximity to breeding sites.

The majority of positive mosquito pools for WNV in Canada were comprised of *Cx. pipiens* and have been found in Ontario, Manitoba, and Quebec (Drebot et al. 2003), and its range in Canada extends from Ontario to Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island (Wood et al. 1979). The presence of adults and larvae of this species in Deer Lake indicates an established population in this area. The proportion of *Cx. pipiens* in relation to other species is low in the current study, however dry-ice baited miniature light traps are not effective for population sampling of this species and are more likely to collect certain *Aedes* or *Ochlerotatus* species (Turell et al. 2002, Allan and Kline 2004). Therefore, *Cx. pipiens* complex females are likely under-represented in Newfoundland collections. Furthermore, *Cx. pipiens* is a tree-canopy species (Anderson et al. 2004) that tends to feed primarily on birds in more northern latitudes (Spielman 2001), so at trap height, 1.5 to 2 meters above the ground, population abundances may be further underestimated. Hence, low numbers of *Cx. pipiens* in the current study may not necessarily indicate low numbers in the environment.

In addition, few larvae of *Cx. pipiens* were collected in Deer Lake. Larger numbers of mosquito predators such as Dytiscidae (diving beetles), Chaoboridae (phantom midge), Odonata (dragonflies), and Hemiptera, such as backswimmers, were observed in ditches in the Deer Lake area compared to similar habitat elsewhere on the island, although this was not quantified. Although all of these groups of insect predators feed on mosquitoes, the Coleoptera (beetles) are considered the most efficient and can reduce larval mosquito populations (Woodring and Davidson 1996). Further investigation is warranted in identifying *Cx. pipiens* breeding locations in the Deer Lake area. This species is decidedly urban and reaches greatest numbers in large urban centers, generally associated with water that has a high organic content and can be found in a fairly wide range of container habitats (Kronenwetter-Koepel et al. 2005, Beehler and Mulla 1995). Catch basins and storm drains provide ideal habitat for *Cx. pipiens* and also offer the advantage

of evading predators that would otherwise occur in natural waterways. A closer look at such habitats could reveal *Cx. pipiens* larvae in Deer Lake. In addition, the limited number of individuals of this species collected could be attributed to such container breeding behaviour and field collections could have missed developing larvae in such small or restricted environments, especially since this species can develop from egg to adult in as few as eight days (Wood et al. 1979).

Coquillettidia perturbans is distributed throughout North America and can be a serious pest of humans and livestock in parts of southern Canada adjacent to large permanent marshes (Wood et al. 1979). High abundances of this species in such habitat dominated by cattails can now be seen across the Island of Newfoundland. Eastern Equine Encephalitis virus has been isolated from *Cq. perturbans* which acts as a bridge vector of this disease (Wood et al. 1979, Romanowski and Candeletti 1984, Bosak et al. 2001). In Canada, Western Equine Encephalitis virus was also isolated from this species although the primary enzootic vectors of EEE and WEE are *Cs. melanura* and *Culex tarsalis* Coquillett respectively (Wood et al. 1979, Artsob 1990).

It was surprising that no complaints about the adult activity of *Cq. perturbans* were voiced by residents near Lundrigan's Marsh, St. John's and Corner Brook Marsh given its indiscriminate feeding behaviour and the thousands of adults trapped within the two cities. This curiosity raises the question of what hosts were being used for blood meals. Historically, *Cq. perturbans* larvae are hard to sample because they remain buried in the mud attached to the roots of emergent vegetation, where they remain throughout development. Attempted larval collections from Lundrigan's Marsh in St. John's failed

to turn up any individuals. *Coquillettidia perturbans* larvae are very quick to remove themselves from the host plant when disturbed (Romanowski and Candeletti 1984) and larval populations are clumped (Batzer 1993), therefore in selecting sampling sites from the large cattail marsh they may have been missed

The distribution of *Cs. melanura* on the island appears to be restricted to the eastern region with few adults collected in St. John's and Terra Nova National Park. These findings support those of Nielsen and Mokry (1982a) who reported collecting a larva in this area, and later adults were also trapped near St. John's. *Culiseta melanura*, the primary enzootic mosquito vector of EEE (Wood et al. 1979, Morris et al. 1980, Garvin et al. 2004), is common in the eastern US, although its only collections in Canada were from southern Quebec and Ontario (Wood et al. 1979, Darsie and Ward 2000) until its appearance in Newfoundland (Nielsen and Mokry 1982a). This collection represented a considerable northern extension of this species range; however its rare occurrence and low abundance in Canada make it an unlikely vector of EEE and human pest.

The current study shows a range extension on the island for *Oc. pionips* and *Oc. pullatus*. Formerly collected only on the northern peninsula (Nielsen and Mokry 1982b), these two species now occur in Cormack and Deer Lake, and *Oc. pionips* was also collected in Corner Brook. In addition, although active collections of *Wy. smithii* were only conducted in the eastern region of the province, its distribution is known to be island-wide and into Labrador, following the distribution of the pitcher plant, *Sarracenia purpurea* Linnaeus (Wood et al. 1979).

There were no records of *Cs. minnesotae* and *Oc. provocans* in Newfoundland prior to this study. Wood et al. (1979) recognized *Cs. minnesotae* as the least known Canadian mosquito, with larvae first being collected in Canada in the early 70's from a permanent cattail marsh in Manitoba. Collections have appeared as far east as Quebec. However, this species seems to be distributed island-wide and first appeared as overwintering females when light traps were deployed in early June. Adults were collected until the end of August, with few larvae collected in July. Distributed from British Columbia to Nova Scotia, *Oc. provocans* is one of the first species to emerge in the spring and is seldom seen after the other snowmelt species have emerged (Wood et al. 1979). Few individuals of this species were collected in the west with larvae first appearing in early May and only one adult after the end of June, which concurs with the literature.

Anopheles earlei and Cx. territans were previously recorded from Labrador, although they were not collected on the island prior to this study. Anopheles earlei is common across most of Canada, and generally appears as an overwintering adult early in the spring with fewer adults present in the summer (Wood et al. 1979). However, our limited collections occurred in July and August. The presence of Cx. territans in Labrador is not unexpected as it is primarily an amphibian feeder and six species of amphibians are native to this region including three frogs, one toad, and two salamanders (Campbell et al. 2004). Insular Newfoundland lacks native amphibians, however four species have been successfully introduced. Green frogs are now distributed across the island after their introduction to St. John's about 1850, the American toad and Wood frog thrived after their introduction to Corner Brook in the 1960's, and the recently discovered Mink frog was found near Corner Brook (Campbell et al. 2004). The thriving population of *Cx. territans* indicates that they have followed these successful amphibian introductions. The high abundance of *Cx. territans* larvae in Deer Lake, Cormack, and Corner Brook correlates with the greater diversity of these amphibians on the west coast of the island. In addition, within or adjacent to breeding sites of *Cx. territans* in Deer Lake, large numbers of tadpoles and frogs were observed.

Southwest Arm in Terra Nova National Park, where an adult *Cx. territans* was collected, is located in the proximate area of a characteristic fen habitat created by an old beaver dam where large numbers of frogs are present. Small numbers of adult mosquitoes in trapping locations adjacent to *Cx. territans* breeding habitat is possibly the result of trapping technique. This species' specialized feeding preference would be a factor if the rate of dry ice sublimating was at a concentration not attractive to *Cx. territans*, as different types of animals release different amounts of carbon dioxide (Service 1993a).

Collections in Labrador were limited and included only three samples from Happy Valley-Goose Bay and Pinware River Provincial Park, thus only six of the twenty-seven species previously recorded from Labrador were found. Many northern species, including *Cs. alaskensis*, *Oc. flavescens*, *Oc. hexodontus*, and *Oc. impiger* were not recorded in the current study. The only species collected from Labrador and not on the island was *Ochlerotatus nigripes* (Zetterstedt). Of the twenty-seven mosquito species recorded in Labrador through previous research, six are exclusive to this region of the province. There are obvious ecological influences on the mosquito composition of the

province given that species are represented in Labrador and not on the island, and vice versa. Furthermore, the potential for colonization of species in Labrador as part of mainland North America may be greater if the distance over open water to the island is limiting. However, if opportunity existed for transport to the island from Labrador by human activity or weather fronts, it is possible that additional species will establish breeding populations, as seen with *An. earlei* and *Cx. territans*.

The first record of *Ae. vexans* comes from a collection made on July 13, 1989 by M. Colbo in Goose Bay, Labrador, in which one adult specimen appears in the MUN Culicidae collection. In addition, there is an unpublished report by J. Mokry of *Cx. restuans* from the island and an additional *Cx. pipiens/restuans* specimen is also present in the collection from Newfoundland, collected by J. Phipps. It is not unusual for Newfoundland to receive insects via air currents. Morris (1983) named this method the 'drift migrant method' and pointed out several species which occur in Newfoundland every year, although they do not overwinter here, including the monarch butterfly, *Danaus plexippus* (Linnaeus), and the corn ear worm, *Heliothis zea* (Boddie). Another example is of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* Linnaeus, which is not native to Newfoundland and Labrador, but arrives each summer on wind currents from overwintering sites in the United States (Hermanutz et al. 2004).

Wind-drifting taxa are often small organisms, such as dipterans, which can be physically swept upwards and transported by storms and other large-scale atmospheric phenomena. In addition, drifting with ambient winds is a mode of transport available to many insects. Wolf et al. (1986) found through radar observations and collections of

insects in the Gulf of Mexico, that longer flight time when traveling over water enables insects to cross wide bodies of water, especially when the winds are strong. Various collections of Culicidae showed the presence of some species of mosquitoes 32 to 200 kilometres from the nearest mainland (Wolf et al. 1986).

It can be speculated that many mosquito species arrived in Newfoundland by windmediated displacement, although some did not establish a breeding population and hence few specimens have been collected. These include *Cx. restuans, Ae. vexans, Oc. sticticus,* and *Oc. stimulans.* Furthermore, the dispersal capability of mosquitoes assisted by human travel is well documented in the literature. It has been found that mosquitoes can establish after the transport of adults in airplanes and boats, as well as larvae in ship ballast water and tires (Calder and Laird 1994, Lounibos 2002). For those species which have been successful arriving and establishing a population on the island, such as *Cx. pipiens, Oc. provocans,* and *Cq. perturbans,* suitable conditions must have existed and the distance to the mainland must not be a limiting factor.

It was shown by the Shannon-Weaver Diversity Index (H') that the western portion of the province is more diverse in mosquitoes than its eastern counterpart. This difference may be because not enough habitat types were represented on either side to obtain a representative sample population, in which case the diversity index may not be accurate. For example, we know that *Wy. smithii* occurs in the west (Heard 1994), but this species was not recorded in this region during the present study since pitcher plants there were not sampled from. In addition, from the species rarefaction curves, it was clear that this calculation cannot be computed for certain locations because of insufficient

mosquito abundance data due to limited sampling or trapping effort. A difference in sampling effort for each region may also affect the accuracy of the diversity index values. Differences in species diversity from west to east on the island may be attributable to winds coming from the mainland. However, a more probable explanation is the many environmental conditions which could influence the establishment of populations in each region, and as such be reflected in the diversity of the area. These conditions can include local climate and habitat differences, as well as anthropogenically enhanced breeding sites for mosquitoes, which will be investigated in the subsequent chapter.

4 THE IMPACT OF LAND-USE ON MOSQUITO POPULATIONS OF NEWFOUNDLAND

4.1 Introduction

In order to evaluate the impact of land-use, baseline mosquito studies are needed to form a database for comparison. To acquire these data, mosquito studies have examined breeding habitats in areas where no long-term information on species habitat utilization and population dynamics exist (Dahl et al. 2004). These studies are needed in urban, and particularly rural areas, where these baseline data often do not exist (Kronenwetter-Koepel et al. 2005), and in areas where the knowledge of mosquito biology is incomplete (Rydzanicz and Lonc 2003). This research is often initiated after changes in land-use (Hearnden and Kay 1995), catastrophic flooding events (Rydzanicz and Lonc 2003), and risk of pathogen transmission by mosquito vectors are recognized. In addition to impacting larval populations directly, these changes may also affect adult mosquitoes. Mating and resting sites may be disrupted and potential changes in the availability of blood-host populations, such as increases in domestic animals and avian species as well as wild host populations may result. The risk of disease transmission is an issue in populated areas, especially when land-use changes and flooding events have the potential to change both the occurrence of mosquito species and/or their abundance. For this reason vectors are often the focus of these studies which evaluate productivity of habitat types (Kronenwetter-Koepel et al. 2005) and the effects of nutrient load on their growth (Reiskind et al. 2004) and oviposition behaviour (Reiskind and Wilson 2004). Data from

such studies determine the risk of disease to humans and animals and are often used to construct integrated mosquito control strategies.

The objective of the present investigation was to evaluate the impact of land-use on mosquito occurrence and populations. This investigation was particularly focused on the influence of urbanization and agricultural activities on mosquito breeding, population composition, and abundance in various habitats across these landscapes.

4.2 Materials and Methods

Larval and adult mosquito collections and identification followed procedures outlined in Chapter 2. Larval habitat was further classified by land-use into natural and disturbed sites. Disturbed sites were those within or near an urban centre or agricultural development which could be influenced by land alterations and/or increased nutrient load. Classification of habitat types included bog, ditch, fen, marsh/swamp, temporary pool, pond margin, and stream margin. Habitat type classified as temporary pool represented ground pools or depressions which fill with water by snowmelt or precipitation events. Stream/pond margins were the peripheral habitat of water bodies which are influenced by floodwater. Environment Canada temperature data were used and daily mean temperatures to calculate a weekly mean temperature prior to trapping in a particular location.

Data were entered into Microsoft Excel and all statistical tests were conducted with SAS version 9.1. Presence/absence data were analyzed using a Logistic Regression and logit link function to evaluate the frequency of occurrence of mosquito species among regions, habitats, or sites. To explain variation in the abundance of mosquito species,

these predictor variables were tested using a Generalized Linear Model with a negative binomial distribution and log link. This distribution was used for count data because of the non-normal distribution of residuals, however, if it was not appropriate due to homogeneity of the residual deviance, then the Poisson distribution with a Pearson scale transformation was used. Mean abundance data of specific adult species were analyzed using a Logistic Regression and a cumulative logit link function to test the difference of seasonal abundance between regions as related to temperature. Analysis of larval and adult abundance data used only instances where they were present. A type 3 analysis was computed when categorical predictor variables were used and all statistical tests were considered significant at p< 0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Mosquito larvae occurrence and abundance

4.3.1.1 Regional analysis of mosquito larvae populations

Twenty-one species of larval mosquitoes were collected during the study and their distributions are shown in Table 3.1 (Chapter 3). The frequency of occurrence for all mosquito larvae identified was not significantly different (p=0.3929) between eastern and western regions of the Island of Newfoundland. Larvae occurred 49 percent of the time in the east compared to 39 percent in the west (Table 4.1). A significant difference was found in the mean abundance (p=0.0160) of mosquito larvae between these regions (Table 4.1); higher mean abundances were found in the west. Among the 21 species collected, the abundances of seven species each accounted for over five percent of the

total collected, however, *Cx. territans* was collected only in the west, and *Oc. abserratus* was collected only in the east, as shown in Table 4.1. Of those seven species, no significant differences in the occurrence of *Ae. cinereus* and *Cs. morsitans* were found between regions. However, the frequency of occurrence of *Oc. canadensis*, and *Oc. punctor* was significantly higher in the east compared to the west, p= 0.0001 and 0.0005, respectively (Table 4.1). *Ochlerotatus communis* occurred significantly more frequently (p=0.0141) in the west compared to the east. The mean abundances of these seven species combined were not significantly different between regions. Although not significant, *Ae. cinereus, Oc. canadensis*, and *Oc. communis* were found in higher mean abundances in the west and *Oc. punctor* in the east (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of seven most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified between Eastern and Western regions of the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).

	Cumul	ative freq occurren	uency of ce	Mean abundance (SD)			
	East	West		East	West		
n	270	404	p-value	133	159	p-value	
Ae. cinereus	12	20	0.7622	0.5 (0.2)	0.8 (1.7)	0.4987	
Cs. morsitans	20	17	0.0776	0.4 (0.2)	0.4 (0.3)	0.7846	
Cx. territans	0	60	n/a	0.0 (0.0)	1.6 (1.3)	n/a	
Oc. abserratus	14	0	n/a	0.8 (1.0)	0.0 (0.0)	n/a	
Oc. canadensis	70	57	0.0001	0.9 (0.9)	1.4 (2.8)	0.1386	
Oc. communis	1	18	0.0141	0.5 (0.0)	6.6 (14.2)	0.5910	
Oc. punctor	55	43	0.0005	1.1 (0.9)	0.9 (1.3)	0.5476	
Total species	133	159	0.3929	0.8 (0.9)	1.5 (4.3)	0.0160	

Note: n/a refers to analysis not being applicable due to complete absence of species in a region

4.3.1.2 Habitat type analysis of mosquito larvae populations

The presence and mean abundance of all larvae identified within different habitat types were examined between eastern and western regions of the island. Table 4.2 shows larvae occurred most often in habitats classified as temporary pools, fens, and ditches in the east and in ditches, temporary pools, and marshes/swamps in the west. When these regions are compared, mosquito larvae were found more often in bogs, fens, and temporary pools in the east, and in ditches and stream/pond margins in the west. Furthermore, larvae were found in marsh/swamp habitat only in the western region. The frequency of occurrence of larvae in these habitat types between regions was not significantly different (Table 4.2).

There were significant differences in the mean abundance of larvae in bogs (p= 0.0016) and temporary pools (p= 0.0100) habitat between regions. A higher mean abundance of larvae was found in bogs in the east compared to the west. Conversely, a higher mean abundance was found in habitat types classified as temporary pools in the west compared to the east (Table 4.2). Table 4.3 shows that only three of the seven most abundant species on the Island of Newfoundland were found in all the habitat types. There was a significant difference in the frequency of occurrence of two of the three species, *Oc. canadensis* (p= 0.0069) being found most often in temporary pools and ditches, and *Cx. territans* (p= <0.001) being found most often in ditches and marsh/swamp habitats (Figure 4.1). The mean abundance of these two species was also significantly different between habitat types with *Oc. canadensis* (p= 0.0013) and *Cx. territans* (p= 0.0002) in highest mean abundance in temporary pool and stream/pond margins respectively (Table 4.3 & Figure 4.2). Table 4.3 shows no significant

differences in the mean abundance of other species and total identified mosquito larvae

between habitat types.

Table 4.2 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of total mosquito larvae identified in habitat types in Eastern and Western regions of the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).

	Cumu	lative freq occurren	luency of ce	Mean abundance (SD)				
	East	West		East	West			
n	270	404	p-value	133	159	p-value		
Bog	6	7	0.9590	2.0 (1.9)	0.3 (0.2)	0.0016		
Fen	45	7	0.4624	0.8 (0.7)	0.5 (0.4)	0.3398		
Marsh/Swamp	0	39	n/a	0.0 (0.0)	1.4 (1.5)	n/a		
Ditch	32	99	0.5286	0.8 (0.9)	1.1(1.6)	0.3198		
Temporary pools	92	86	0.0566	0.7 (0.8)	2.3 (7.1)	0.0100		
Stream/pond margin	14	23	0.6029	0.9 (0.7)	1.0 (1.3)	0.7970		

Note: n/a refers to analysis not being applicable due to absence of individuals in a habitat type

Figure 4.1 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the seven most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified in habitat types (n) on the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005.

Table 4.3 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of the seven most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified in habitat types on the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).

	Bog	Fen	Marsh/ Swamp	Ditch	Temporary pools	Stream/ pond margin	р-
n	11	36	28	85	114	18	value
Ae. cinereus	0.0 (0.0)	0.4 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	1.4 (2.8)	0.5 (0.4)	0.3 (0.1)	0.1926
Cs. morsitans	0.0 (0.0)	0.4 (0.3)	0.5 (0.3)	0.4 (0.2)	0.3 (0.2)	0.4 (0.2)	0.7367
Cx. territans	0.2 (0.0)	0.8 (0.0)	2.4 (1.7)	1.1 (0.8)	1.2 (0.7)	2.9 (1.1)	0.0002
Oc. abserratus	0.0 (0.0)	0.9 (1.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.1(0.0)	0.4 (0.4)	1.1 (1.2)	0.6424
Oc. canadensis	1.3 (1.6)	1.0 (0.8)	0.5 (0.2)	1.0 (1.7)	1.3 (2.6)	0.8 (0.8)	0.0013
Oc. communis	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.4 (0.3)	15.6 (20.4)	2.6 (2.8)	0.8860
Oc. punctor	0.7 (0.0)	0.7 (0.5)	0.9 (0.7)	1.3 (1.7)	0.9 (0.9)	0.8 (0.7)	0.5197
Total species	1.1 (1.5)	1.0 (1.4)	0.7 (0.7)	1.4 (1.5)	1.5 (5.0)	1.0 (1.1)	0.5480

Figure 4.2 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of three abundant species of mosquito larvae identified in habitat types (n) on the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005.

4.3.2 Mosquito larvae of St. John's, Eastern Newfoundland

Among ten species of larvae identified in St. John's, a significant difference in their frequency of occurrence (p=0.0236) was found between land-use categories. Larvae occurred more frequently in natural and disturbed wetland habitats and least often in agricultural habitats. This result was significant (p=0.0018) when the three most abundant species, *Oc. abserratus, Oc. canadensis,* and *Oc. punctor*, were tested for differences between land-use categories. When these species were analyzed separately, only the frequency of occurrence of *Oc. punctor* was significantly different between these land-uses (p=0.0255). Figure 4.3 shows all three species occurred most often in natural and disturbed wetlands. In habitats where *Oc. punctor* occurred, it was collected least often from urban habitats, *Oc. abserratus* and *Oc. canadensis* were uncommon in agricultural habitats, and *Oc. abserratus* was not collected in an urban habitat.

When the mean abundance of all species of larvae between land-use categories was analyzed, there was a significant interaction (p=0.0024) between land-use and species. However, due to the difficulty in interpreting this result with all species included, the same analysis was performed on the three most abundant species and again a significant interaction (p=0.0004) resulted. Figure 4.4 shows that the mean abundances of these species varied between land-use categories with the highest mean abundance of *Oc. canadensis* occurring in natural wetlands, *Oc. punctor* in agricultural and urban habitats, and *Oc. abserratus* in natural and disturbed wetlands. Significant differences in the mean abundance of the total mosquito larvae and the most abundant species between land-use categories were also found when analyzed without an interaction, p=0.0336 and 0.0470 respectively. Both results showed highest mean abundances in natural wetlands followed by agricultural habitats. When species were analyzed separately, only the mean abundance of *Oc. canadensis* was significantly different between land-use categories (p=<0.0001) (Figure 4.4).

Figure 4.4 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of the three most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in St. John's, Eastern Newfoundland, 2004-2005.

4.3.3 Mosquito larvae of Western Newfoundland

Among 17 species of larvae identified in Western Newfoundland, *Cx. territans*, *Oc. canadensis*, *Oc. communis*, and *Oc. punctor* each accounted for over five percent of the total abundance of larvae collected. There was a significant interaction (p=0.0084) in testing the frequency of occurrence of these four species together between habitat types and developed areas in this region. Figure 4.5 shows that overall, these larvae occurred most often in ditches in Cormack and Deer Lake and marsh/swamps in Corner Brook. Larvae collected from Cormack were found only in ditches and temporary pools. Table 4.5 summarizes the frequency of occurrence and abundances of larvae in the developed areas. A significant interaction was also found in the frequency of occurrence of the four most abundant species between towns (p=0.0025). *Culex territans* and *Oc. canadensis*

were found most often in Deer Lake followed by Corner Brook however, *Oc. communis* and *Oc. punctor* were found most often in Deer Lake and Cormack (Table 4.4). When analyzed separately there were significant differences in the frequency of occurrence of *Cx. territans* (p=0.0068) and *Oc. communis* (p=0.0357) in developed areas.

It can be seen from Table 4.5 that all species of larvae occurred most often in ditches and temporary pools; *Oc. canadensis, Oc. communis,* and *Oc. punctor* each showed the same trend. However, *Cx. territans* differed significantly (p= <0.0001) in its frequency of occurrence between habitats and occurred most often ditches and marsh/swamps. A significant interaction (p=0.0010) also resulted when these four species were compared between land-use categories. Figure 4.6 shows *Cx. territans* and *Oc. canadensis* were found the most often in urban sites compared to *Oc. communis* and *Oc. punctor* in agricultural sites. When analyzed separately, *Cx. territans* and *Oc. communis* were significantly different between land-use categories, p= 0.0126 and 0.0075 respectively, however there were no significant differences for *Oc. canadensis* and *Oc. punctor*.

Figure 4.5 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae in habitat types (n) identified from developed areas in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005.

Figure 4.6 Cumulative frequency of occurrence of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005.

	Cumula	ative frequen	cy of occurre	nce	Mean abundance (SD)				
	Corner Brook	Cormack	Deer Lake		Corner Brook	Cormack	Deer Lake		
n	80	110	210	p-value	33	32	90	p-value	
Cx. territans	13	6	41	0.0068	0.7 (0.7)	1.2 (0.7)	1.9 (1.4)	0.0022	
Oc. canadensis	11	10	32	0.3091	1.2 (2.3)	3.9 (5.4)	0.8 (1.1)	0.0021	
Oc. communis	2	10	6	0.0357	0.5 (0.1)	3.4 (6.6)	13.8 (22.7)	0.1580	
Oc. punctor	7	15	19	0.3924	2.1 (2.8)	1.0 (0.7)	0.5 (0.4)	0.0012	
Total species	33	32	90	0.4399	0.9 (1.6)	1.9 (3.7)	1.6 (5.2)	0.4470	

Table 4.4 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified between developed areas in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).

Table 4.5 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per dip) of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae and total larvae identified between habitat types in developed areas of Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).

			Cumulative	e frequency of occ	urrence		
					Temporary	Stream/pond	
	Bog	Ditch	Fen	Marsh/Swamp	pool	margin	
n	10	150	10	48	164	18	p-value
Cx. territans	1	29	1	18	7	4	< 0.0001
Oc. canadensis	2	18	2	7	22	2	0.9517
Oc. communis	0	10	0	0	6	2	n/a
Oc. punctor	0	19	1	4	15	2	n/a
Total species	3	62	6	28	47	9	0.0009
			Me	an abundance (SD)	_	
					Temporary	Stream/pond	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Bog	Ditch	Fen	Marsh/Swamp	pool	margin	
n	3	62	6	28	47	9	p-value
Cx. territans	0.2 (0.0)	1.1 (0.8)	0.8 (0.0)	2.4 (1.7)	1.2 (0.7)	2.9 (1.1)	0.0002
Oc. canadensis	0.4 (0.3)	1.4 (2.2)	0.4 (0.3)	0.5 (0.2)	2.2 (3.9)	0.3 (0.1)	0.4676
Oc. communis	0.0	0.4 (0.3)	0.0	0.0	18.1 (21.1)	2.6 (2.8)	<0.0001
Oc. punctor	0.0	1.2 (1.8)	1.1 (0.0)	0.9 (0.7)	0.7 (0.5)	0.3 (0.1)	0.7033
Total species	0.3 (0.2)	1.1 (1.6)	0.5 (0.4)	1.4 (1.5)	2.5 (7.3)	1.0 (1.3)	0.1030

Note: n/a refers to analysis not being applicable due to complete absence of individuals in a habitat type.

There was a significant interaction (p= 0.0043) between the mean abundance of the four most abundant species together between land-use categories and towns in the west. Figure 4.7 shows overall highest mean abundances of these larvae were from natural wetlands in Cormack and Deer Lake and agricultural sites in Corner Brook. A significant interaction was also found for the mean abundance of these species between towns (p= <0.0001). The highest abundances of *Cx. territans* and *Oc. communis* were in Deer Lake, followed by Cormack, however, *Oc. canadensis* and *Oc. punctor* were most abundant in Cormack and Corner Brook respectively (Table 4.4).

It can be seen from Table 4.5 that the highest mean abundances of the four most abundant species varied by habitat type which explains the significant interaction (p= <0.0001) between these factors. However, when analyzed separately, only *Cx. territans* and *Oc. communis* differed significantly by habitat type with highest mean abundances recorded in stream/pond margins and temporary pools respectively. As indicated in Figure 4.8, the most abundant larval species also differ significantly by land-use categories (p= <0.0001). *Ochlerotatus communis* is not represented in this figure but is most likely responsible for this result as its highest mean abundance in a land-use category is four times that of any other species, with a natural wetland being preferred (p= <0.0001). Mean abundances of *Oc. canadensis* and *Oc. punctor* were also significantly different by land-use categories (p= <0.0001 and 0.0370 respectively) with highest abundances in agricultural sites, and *Cx. territans* (p= 0.0009) in disturbed wetlands.

Figure 4.7 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of the four most abundant species of mosquito larvae combined in land-use categories (n) identified from developed areas in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005.

Figure 4.8 Mean abundances (measured as individuals per dip) of three most abundant species of mosquito larvae identified from land-use categories (n) in Western Newfoundland, 2004-2005.
4.3.4 Adult mosquito occurrence and abundance

4.3.4.1 Regional analysis of mosquito adult populations

Twenty-four species of adult mosquitoes were collected during the present study and their distributions are shown in Table 3.1 (Chapter 3). Among all adults identified, a significant difference was found in the frequency of occurrence (p= <0.001) and mean abundance (p= 0.0015) between eastern and western regions of the Island of Newfoundland (Table 4.6). More species occurred in the west, however mean abundance was higher in the east. Among those collected, nine species' total abundances each accounted for over five percent of the total mosquitoes collected, however, *Cx. pipiens* was collected only in the west, as shown in Table 4.6. Of those nine species, no significant differences in the occurrence of *Cs. minnesotae* and *Oc. canadensis* were found between regions. However, the mean abundance of *Cs. minnesotae* was significantly higher (p= 0.0195) in the west. Conversely, the mean abundance of *Oc. canadensis* was significantly higher (p= 0.0004) in the east. **Table 4.6** Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of the nine most abundant species of adult mosquitoes and total adults identified between Eastern and Western regions of the Island of Newfoundland, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).

		Cumulative frequency of						
		occurrence			Mean abundance (SD)			
		East	West		East	West		
	n	248	160	p-value	186	131	p-value	
Cq. perturbans		60	57	0.0131	9.5 (9.4)	8.7 (9.3)	0.6805	
Cs. minnesotae		34	15	0.1912	2.0 (1.4)	3.8 (4.9)	0.0195	
Cs. morsitans		77	27	0.0016	3.7 (3.5)	2.2 (2.8)	0.0120	
Cx. pipiens		0	36	n/a	0.0 (0.0)	3.9 (4.2)	n/a	
Oc. abserratus/punctor		92	39	0.0076	6.2 (7.4)	2.0 (1.7)	<0.0001	
Oc. canadensis		113	77	0.6126	8.3 (8.2)	4.9 (5.7)	0.0004	
Oc. communis		22	53	<0.0001	2.8 (3.4)	5.8 (6.5)	0.0059	
Oc. diantaeus		7	31	<0.0001	1.1 (0.4)	5.7 (5.4)	0.0010	
Oc. excrucians	·	44	49	0.0027	2.7 (3.0)	4.2 (3.6)	0.0183	
Total species		186	131	< 0.0001	0.7 (2.8)	0.6 (2.9)	0.0015	

Note: n/a refers to analysis not being applicable due to absence of species in a region

Ochlerotatus abserratus/punctor and *Cs. morsitans* occurred significantly more frequently (p=0.0076 and 0.0016 respectively) in the east compared to the west, whereas *Cq. perturbans* and *Oc. communis* were identified significantly more frequently (p=0.0131 and <0.0001 respectively) in the west compared to the east. Significantly higher mean abundances were also found for *Oc. abserratus/punctor* (p=<0.0001) and *Cs. morsitans* (p=0.0120) in the east compared to the west. In addition, there was a significantly higher mean abundance (p=0.0059) for *Oc. communis* in the west compared to the east and there was no significant difference in the mean abundance of *Cq. perturbans* between regions.

4.3.4.2 Adult mosquito trapping transects analysis

Among 12 species of adults identified in St. John's, overall frequency of occurrence differed significantly (p= <0.001) between site groups (Table 4.7). Location of trapping sites from 1 to 10 begins on the outer fridges of the city progressing through the center of urban development and again through suburban surroundings (Figure 2.1; Chapter 2). No significant difference was found between overall mean abundance among site groups. Higher frequency of occurrences and significantly different mean abundances (p= 0.0003) of adult females did follow a trend and were located in site groups 1-3, and 8-10 (Table 4.7). Mean abundance of adult female mosquitoes across sites within the St. John's adult trapping transect is shown in Figure 4.9. Higher mean abundances in general were found at these peripheral locations, although the highest recorded mean abundance for an individual site was at site 4 in Lundrigan's Marsh, a *Cq. perturbans* breeding hot spot, and lowest at site 5, in the city core (Figure 4.9).

	Cumulative frequency of occurrence				Mean abundance (SD)			
	Sites 1-3	Sites 4-7	Sites 8-10		Sites 1-3	Sites 4-7	Sites 8-10	
		· .	1.0	10 A				p-
n	58	72	64	p-value	46	42	49	value
Cq. perturbans	10	23	5	0.0032	2.3 (5.6)	8.0 (11.1)	0.2 (0.7)	0.0056
Cs. morsitans	18	18	30	0.0251	1.5 (3.1)	1.7 (3.2)	2.2 (3.1)	0.9355
Oc. abserratus/punctor	25	11	24	0.0018	1.8 (4.2)	0.6 (1.3)	3.3 (6.6)	0.0120
Oc. canadensis	34	15	28	<0.0001	4.3 (5.7)	1.8 (3.6)	7.0 (9.9)	0.0023
Oc. excrucians	15	3	14	0.0062	1.1 (2.6)	0.3 (1.2)	0.9 (2.1)	0.7551
Total species	46	42	49	<0.0001	4.7 (5.5)	6.8 (8.3)	5.8 (7.6)	0.0713

Table 4.7 Cumulative frequency of occurrence and mean abundance (measured as numbers per positive trap) of five most abundant species of adult mosquitoes and total adults identified among site groups in St. John's, 2004-2005 (SD= standard deviation).



Figure 4.9 Distribution of the mean abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of adult female mosquitoes from transect sites in St. John's, 2004-2005.

Among those species collected in St. John's, total abundances of five species were each responsible for more than five percent of the total and all showed significant differences in their frequency of occurrence between site groups (Table 4.7). *Ochlerotatus abserratus/punctor, Oc. canadensis*, and *Oc. excrucians* occurred most often in sites 1-3, while *Cq. perturbans* occurred most often in sites 4-7, and *Cs. morsitans* in sites 8-10 (Table 4.7). There were no significant differences in the mean abundances of *Cs. morsitans* and *Oc. excrucians* between site groups. However, significant differences in the mean abundances of *Ochlerotatus abserratus/punctor* (p= 0.0120), *Oc. canadensis* (p= 0.0023), and *Cq. perturbans* (p= 0.0056) were found between site groups. *Cs. morsitans, Oc. abserratus/punctor*, and *Oc. canadensis* were most abundant in sites 8-10, whereas *Cq. perturbans* was found to be most abundant in sites 4-7, and *Oc. excrucians* in sites 1-3 (Table 4.7).

Among 19 species of adult mosquitoes identified in Deer Lake, nine species had total abundances each making up over five percent of the total mosquitoes collected. These species included: *Cq. perturbans, Cx. pipiens, Oc. canadensis, Oc. communis, Oc. diantaeus, Oc. excrucians, Oc. fitchii*, and *Oc. pullatus*. A significant difference (p= 0.030) in the mean abundance of adult female mosquitoes among sites across Deer Lake was found. Sites 3, 7, and 8 were the most productive sites in Deer Lake and sites 4-6 yielded the lowest mean abundance of adult females (Figure 4.10). Overall frequency of occurrence of identified adults was not significantly different between sites. Also, when the frequency of occurrence and mean abundance of the nine most abundant species was compared between sites, there were no significant differences.



Figure 4.10 Distribution of the mean abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of adult female mosquitoes from transect sites in Deer Lake, 2004-2005.

4.3.4.3 Seasonal distribution of adult female Coquillettidia perturbans and Culex pipiens

Adult female Cq. perturbans were found island-wide in all trapping sites in Corner Brook, Cormack, and Deer Lake, within three parks each in the western and eastern regions, and in nine sites within St. John's. To evaluate the seasonal abundance of an island-wide species, the proportion of Cq. perturbans in an identified sample was multiplied by the total number of females trapped. When the seasonal abundance of Cq.perturbans between regions was analyzed, there was no significant interaction (p= 0.9154) between its population estimate and region in 2005. However, it was evident that the seasonal abundance of this species exhibits a different trend when regions are compared, as shown in Figure 4.11. Coquillettidia perturbans first appeared in week 30 in St. John's in 2004 and week 27 in 2005. Limited trapping weeks in the west in 2004 did not indicate onset of adult activity however, in 2005 this species appeared in week 25 in the west and was not trapped after week 34 (Figure 4.11).





a)

Figure 4.11 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of *Coquillettidia perturbans* in eastern and western Newfoundland in a) 2004 and b) 2005.

This seasonal difference was also evident in 2005 when only the urban areas of Deer Lake and St. John's were compared (Figure 4.12) although there was no significant difference (p=0.0756) in the seasonal distribution of *Cq. perturbans* between these cities. Individuals were trapped in Deer Lake in week 25, three weeks prior to this species' appearance in St. John's in week 28. Furthermore, individuals were trapped in St. John's in week 28. Furthermore, individuals were trapped in St. John's in week 28.





To test whether the seasonal abundance of Cq. perturbans was influenced by air temperature, an interaction between the mean abundance of this species in 2005 from Lundrigan's Marsh, a site within the city of St. John's where 70 percent of this species

was trapped, and temperature was analyzed. There was a significant difference between the trend of mean temperature and abundance of this species over the season (p=0.0315). However, Figure 4.13 indicates this species appeared only after significant increases in air temperature prior to trapping.



Figure 4.13 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of *Coquillettidia perturbans* and mean air temperature one week prior to trapping in Lundrigan's Marsh, St. John's, 2005.

The seasonal distribution of Cq. perturbans in Deer Lake in 2005 is shown in Figure 4.14. An interaction between mean air temperature prior to trapping and estimated population abundance of this species in Deer Lake was insignificant (p= 0.4865), indicating these two factors appear to have the same trend over the season. This analysis was significant (p=0.0230) for *Cx. pipiens* in Deer Lake in 2005, indicating there was some difference between the trend of these factors, although Figure 4.15 does show *Cx. pipiens* increasing in number after increases in air temperature prior to trapping.



Figure 4.14 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of *Coquillettidia perturbans* and mean air temperature one week prior to trapping in Deer Lake 2005.



Figure 4.15 Seasonal distribution of the estimated population abundance (measured as number per positive trap) of *Culex pipiens* and mean air temperature one week prior to trapping in Deer Lake 2005.

4.4 Discussion

The current study showed the diversity of habitats used as breeding sites for mosquitoes in various land-use practices. These results support those of other studies which investigated breeding habitats and reveaed similar habitats are utilized by the mosquito fauna (Kronenwetter-Koepel et al. 2005, Joy and Clay 2002, Nielsen and Mokry 1982b, Lewis and Bennett 1979). No unusual habitats, i.e. tree holes, were found to be used on the Island of Newfoundland. It is possible that other habitats across the province are occupied by mosquitoes. This research did not exhaustively collect all aquatic habitats but rather concentrated on identified likely breeding locations in obvious standing water and monitored these over time. For example, the rocky splash pools along the ocean and rivers were not sampled although Nielsen and Mokry (1982b) located mosquitoes in these habitats on the island. In addition, in order to evaluate the interaction of identified species and humans or domestic animals, the majority of the habitats sampled were located within or adjacent to populated centres and farms.

Many common species of mosquitoes occurred more frequently in the western region of the island compared to the east; a higher diversity of species was also seen in this region of the province. Environmental conditions influence populations in each region, and as such may be reflected in the diversity of the area. The western region of the island does have local climatic and habitat differences from the east, most notably its favourable growing conditions created by a relatively longer vegetative season and a generally warm summer (Damman 1983). Furthermore, the sampled areas in the west were characterized by a predominate forest of Abies balsamea and densely vegetated alluvial alder swamps whereas the barrens ecoregion, in which St. John's is situated, is dominated more by dwarf shrub heaths, bogs, and shallow fens (Damman 1983). This difference was clearly reflected in the greater occurrence of larvae in bog and fen habitats in the east. This study focused sampling efforts in the east in the city of St. John's, a much larger city than Deer Lake and surrounding areas, and as such, may explain differences between these regions. The western region will therefore have a higher proportion of undeveloped land compared to developed areas for urban or agricultural purposes.

The low human population on the Island of Newfoundland compared to other provinces allows for large expanses of natural forested or wetland habitat. It was in these

naturally occurring water basins in which the majority of mosquitoes breed. Temporary pools, classified here as ground pools or depressions which fill with water by snowmelt or precipitation events, most often represent these natural breeding sites with high abundances of mosquitoes. The use of these habitats for mosquito breeding was not surprising since the majority of the fauna was comprised of *Aedes/Ochlerotatus* species, thus hatching was closely related to snowmelt (Wood et al. 1979). These breeding habitats, in relation to cities such as St. John's and Corner Brook, were located mostly on the outer fringes of the cities; they may be modified to some extent but still hold many of their natural elements. In addition, ditches, whether created from agricultural or urban practices, were used frequently and harboured high abundances of larvae across the island. The creation of these habitats near populated areas increases the potential for mosquito contact with humans and domestic animals. This is of particular interest when it comes to vectors of disease, such as *Cx. pipiens*, an urban species that breeds in organically enriched habitats, and the transmission of WNV (Kronenwetter-Koepel et al. 2005).

It is expected that larvae of common species such as *Oc. canadensis*, *Oc. communis*, *Oc. punctor*, and *Oc. excrucians* will be found in diverse habitats (Wood et al. 1979), which are observed in Newfoundland since these species are distributed throughout the boreal forest and surrounding sphagnum bogs and grassy marshes. However, there are several instances in which habitats created in agricultural or urban influenced locations produced significantly higher abundances of these species. This was seen in populations of *Oc. punctor* in St. John's and *Cx. territans* and *Oc. communis* in the west. However, the presence and abundance of *Cx. territans* were closely related to its amphibian hosts; it was in these habitats in which high abundances of frogs were observed. *Ochlerotatus communis* larvae aggregate in dense masses in response to certain combinations of light and temperature conditions (Wood et al. 1979) which could skew results if this behaviour is found in a sampling location.

Several habitats created by urbanization and agricultural practices which have had an increase in nutrient load from these practices were not breeding a diversity of mosquitoes. This was seen in Lundrigan's Marsh in St. John's in which a high abundance of *Cq. perturbans* was collected as adults, but other larval species were not found. Lundrigan's Marsh is a fen which was converted to a cattail marsh, probably as a result of nutrient load from surrounding businesses as well as runoff from a nearby dumpsite. Interestingly, a somewhat natural fen a few hundred meters from this marsh was inhabited by several species of mosquito larvae. This was also observed in Cormack where few or no larvae were collected from heavily polluted water bodies, however nearby habitats with little disturbance were productive.

It was clear from the adult trapping transects in St. John's that mosquitoes are not moving into the city but are in higher abundance on the fringes. This may be due to the higher proportion of natural breeding habitat surrounding the city and lack of breeding habitats in the urban areas, in part due to the soil being dominated by coarse glacial till that does not readily hold water. Furthermore, a common occurrence in urban centres elsewhere is high abundances of container breeding mosquito species such as *Cx. pipiens*. Habitats such as catch basin drainage systems and water holding containers within

residential yards are potential breeding sites for such species and can allow them to evade natural predators (Washburn 1995). However, sustained high temperatures elsewhere allow mosquitoes to develop at a faster rate and survive periodic higher volumes of water flow. These temperatures are not seen in Newfoundland and catchment breeding mosquito species are not found in St. John's.

Although not significant, this same trend was seen in the smaller town of Deer Lake. However, it is important to remember that no two traps in Deer Lake were more than two and a half kilometres apart. Although the three traps located in the more centralized part of town had the lowest catches, these results may be artificial due to the influence of external light sources, as this is known to skew the results of light trap data as lights may diminish the attractiveness of the trap (Service 1993a). Other sites in Deer Lake with the highest catches may have been a reflection of more forested habitat around them that reduced the impact of additional light. In reality, mosquito populations probably do not differ all that much between sites in this town.

Few breeding sites in high intensity urban centres, where the majority of natural land cover has been disturbed, is due to human-made materials and coarse textured soils that are impermeable or retain little standing water. There are catch basins and containers, and although catch basins were not sampled, the evidence from adult samples suggests these habitats are not used extensively as container breeding mosquitoes were not in abundance. A low abundance of adult mosquitoes in the city of St. John's may be a reflection of this lack of standing water in built up areas, and it was only in low intensity urban sites adjacent to forests and wetlands that large numbers of adults and

larvae were found. Flood control drainage ditches and wetlands were the most productive breeding habitats in these less populated locations.

Over the past three decades, development in St. John's and other urban centres has seen a marked increase which has changed the surrounding landscape. Although the current study showed urban centres have fewer mosquitoes, many people in these centres live in less populated developments surrounding these centres, thus exposed to a greater diversity and abundance of mosquitoes than in the true urban core. Furthermore, Statistics Canada, Census of Agriculture, report changes increases in crop-based agricultural land-use. Increased fertilizer and pesticide use is often associated with such practice, and these expanses of land commonly provide drainage ditches and temporal wetlands which are being used extensively by the mosquito fauna. This increases the availability of nutrient-rich habitat and potentially exposes mosquitoes to pesticide contamination. These developments have the potential to change mosquito populations. It is interesting that this study found *Cx. pipiens* here for the first time and although it may have been here previously, changes in land use may have increased its populations as this species prefers enriched habitats (Wood et al. 1979).

It is important to note that although human modified habitat does not always initially relate specifically to a vector, it could influence or enhance animal populations that have the potential to be hosts of a pathogen. Although not a virally significant species, an example of this is Cx. *territans* and the movement of its amphibian hosts. The creation of appropriate habitat for introduced frogs may have allowed frog populations to reach a level able to sustain a population of Cx. *territans*, as this species was previously

known from Labrador where frogs are native. This principle can also be applied to bird populations such as crows and their increasing populations in suburban and urban areas (Yaremych et al. 2004). Abundant and easily located anthropogenic food resources in urban and agricultural habitats are being exploited by these bird populations resulting in a diminishing need for forest food resources. The preference for crows and other avian species for urban habitat may expose these birds to the urban-dwelling *Cx. pipiens*, the primary vector of WNV in eastern Canada (Drebot et al. 2003).

Although corvids are highly susceptible to WNV, other avian species occurring in these habitats are also of concern since they have the potential to serve as reservoir hosts, such as the House Finch (*Carpodacus mexicanus* (Muller)), House Sparrow (*Passer domesticus* Linnaeus), and American Robin (*Turdus migratorius* Linnaeus) (Kilpatrick et al. 2006, Komar et al. 2003). In addition, mosquito species within these areas also have cattle, horses, and other domestic animals as potential hosts. The availability of breeding habitat and hosts in these areas increases the potential for mosquito-human contact and pathogen transmission.

In summary, the data presented clearly showed a seasonal difference in the emergence and adult activity between the western and eastern regions of the island. Estimated mosquito populations in the west appear to be active as much as three weeks prior to the east and end approximately two weeks earlier. Although a warm summer is characteristic of the western region, lower mean temperatures over the season compared to St. John's are prevalent. This difference can be explained by the fact that Deer Lake is an interior location, distant from the pronounced modifying influence of the North

Atlantic seen in St. John's. Although the west has lower monthly mean minimum temperatures, it has higher monthly mean maximum temperatures compared to St. John's. With respect to larval development and adult mosquito activity, sunshine is critical, and maximum daily temperatures with more sunshine and less oceanic fog are more important to warm pools in larval habitats.

Culex pipiens activity in Deer Lake was first noted in the middle of June, week 24; these individuals were probably overwintering females and an increase in adult activity occurred after the oviposition of these individuals. This species can have several generations over the season and if adult trapping had continued beyond the middle of September, week 37, it is expected that more individuals would have been captured since breeding continues until it is diminished by cold weather in the fall (Spielman 2001, Wood et al. 1979). Now that this species is known to occur here and a few larvae were found, interestingly not in overly enriched breeding sources, a more focused study is needed. Intensive larval sampling in the western region to locate the dominant breeding habitat of this species and evaluate the contribution of catchment basins in their development, as well as adult sampling using gravid traps, is a logical next step to clearly define the distribution and population levels of this important vector.

5 WEST NILE VIRUS SURVEILLANCE AND POTENTIAL TRANSMISSION IN NEWFOUNDLAND

5.1 Introduction

Arbovirus studies involving mosquitoes in Newfoundland have been limited. However, recognition of potential health risks associated with biting flies and clinical cases of California (CAL) serogroup viruses as far east as Nova Scotia, and antibody detection in several animal groups around the Maritimes, prompted research to determine the eastern limit of abrovirus distribution in North America. Studies performed in Newfoundland from 1980 to 1983 resulted in the isolation of three CAL viruses including an isolate of Jamestown Canyon (JC) virus from a mixed pool of *Oc. abserratus* and *Oc. punctor* and two isolates of snowshoe hare (SSH) virus from pools of *Oc. canadensis* (Mokry et al. 1984). In addition, serological studies on human, horse, and snowshoe hare (*Lepus americanus*) sera confirmed the circulation of JC and SSH viruses in Newfoundland (Mokry et al. 1984).

Furthermore, a study to examine the reproductive and vector potential of four major Newfoundland *Aedes/Ochlerotatus* species was also going on at this time. Season-long sampling of the adult population, determining reproductive capacity, and physiological age-grading suggested that no more than about 25 percent of adults return for a second blood-meal and less than five percent return for a third (Mokry 1984). The epidemiological significance of this to the transmission of CAL viruses is that potentially infected females would not live long enough to refeed and infect further hosts. Laboratory confirmed cases of WNV disease observed during an outbreak in the summer of 1999 in New York City were the first in the Western hemisphere (White et al. 2001, Nash et al. 2001). The incursion of WNV into Canada was documented for the first time in 2001 in Ontario. By the end of 2005, this virus had expanded its geographical range in North America with documented activity in 48 American states, and seven Canadian provinces (excluding British Columbia, Prince Edward Island, and Newfoundland and Labrador) (Artsob et al. 2006).

After the detection of WNV, the goal of mosquito surveillance in Canada was to gain a better understanding of the specific role that different species play in the enzootic and epidemic transmission of this disease and to use this information to guide decision making concerning the need to implement mosquito control strategies. Species composition, relative abundance, and seasonal patterns of activity of adult mosquitoes in different at-risk localities were to be determined, and collected mosquitoes were tested for evidence of WNV infection. To date, WNV has been detected in 14 different mosquito species (Artsob et al. 2006, Drebot et al. 2003) including *Cx. pipiens*, the primary enzootic vector in North America, which has been shown to maintain the virus through the winter (Artsob et al. 2003).

The incursion of WNV into Canada has recently prompted mosquito surveillance in Newfoundland. As a result of this study, three additional species were found including, *Cq. perturbans, Oc. provocans*, and *Cx. pipiens*. These results are summarized in Chapter 3. No reported vectors of WNV were known to occur in Newfoundland until this. The focus of surveillance in Canada has also been on birds, horses (or other

domestic animals) and humans. Corvidae (e.g. crows, blue jays, ravens) appear to be particularly susceptible to mortality following exposure to WNV (Komar et al. 2003, Eidson et al. 2001). As such, corvids, crows in particular, have been the primary target species for dead bird surveillance programs in North America as an early indicator of virus activity in a local ecosystem. In addition, although other bird species are likely to be affected by WNV, crows are relatively large-bodied, tend to be abundant in suburban and urban areas, and are likely to be seen by the general public. The Canadian Cooperative Wildlife Health Centre (CCWHC) organized a system for recording dead bird sightings and maintaining a database for tracking bird submissions and reporting results of diagnostic testing to provincial public health authorities. Surveillance for WNV in horses is often conducted to estimate the impact of infection on these populations and to serve as an indicator of virus activity in rural communities, where it is anticipated that, because of low human population density, dead bird surveillance might not be as effective compared to urban centres.

The objective of this investigation was to estimate the level of risk for human and animal exposure to potential WNV transmission in Newfoundland. In doing so, possible pathways of entry and potential sites of transmission are discussed.

5.2 Materials and Methods

Between May and October in 2004 and 2005, oropharyngeal swabs from fieldcollected dead corvids, submitted by local or provincial authorities, were tested using the VecTest antigen-capture assay. This assay was provided by the CCWHC and has been proven to be a reliable and rapid diagnostic test (Stone et al. 2005, Lindsay et al. 2003,

Yaremych et al. 2003). Results of these tests were then entered into the CCWHC national surveillance database.

An equine sera survey was performed to detect the presence of the virus through ELISA antibody screening. Upon consent from horse owners, provincial veterinarians obtained blood samples from horses in their respective health districts during the summer of 2004. In 2005, equine sampling efforts were focused in the Western health district following the discovery of *Cx. pipiens* in this region. Information about individual horses was obtained, including age and vaccination and travel history. Serum samples were sent to and tested by the Animal Health Laboratory, University of Guelph. When WNV IgG antibody capture by ELISA was positive, or horses were known to have histories of previous vaccination to WNV, these samples were then sent to either the Prairie Diagnostic Services, Western College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Saskatchewan; Animal Health Diagnostic Center, College of Veterinary Medicine, Cornell University; or the National Microbiology Laboratory, Winnipeg, for IgM antibody capture by ELISA and/or serum neutralization (SN), which would clarify if these individuals had recent exposure to the virus.

5.3 Results

Ninety-one corvids tested negative for WNV infection in 2004 and sixty-three in 2005. Of these 154 corvids, 145 were American Crows (*Corvus brachyrhynchos* Brehm), two Blue Jays (*Cyanocitta cristata* Linnaeus), and seven Common Ravens (*Corvus corax* Linnaeus). The majority of corvid deaths were attributed to electrocution.

The distribution of tested corvids is shown in Table 5.1. See Appendix 2 for a map of health and community services boards.

	2004	2005
St. John's	52	24
Eastern	7	7
Central	11	11
Western	15	17
Grenfell	0	1
Labrador	6	3

Table 5.1 Distribution of corvids tested for West Nile virus infection in Newfoundland and Labrador health and community services boards, 2004-2005.

A total of 52 horses were sampled in 2004 and all sera were negative for WNV. In 2005, a total of 50 horses were sampled. All but one tested negative to WNV. This serum was from a horse in the Western region of the province and was thought to have no vaccination history to WNV. The serum gave a negative IgM ELISA result and a positive SN result, as well as a positive hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay to WN from a second sample. Such an outcome would suggest this horse had prior exposure to the virus due to vaccination or infection, causing concern since this area of the province was known to have an established vector population. Further probing into the horse's history of vaccinations revealed it had previously been vaccinated for WN which could explain the results obtained from the serum.

5.4 Discussion

For an arbovirus to be amplified successfully in nature and for an epizootic outbreak to occur in a region, several conditions must exist. The virus in question must be capable of replicating in a blood-feeding arthropod species, this species must then be capable of transmitting the virus when taking a second blood meal, and its population density must be of appropriate size to maintain the virus. In addition, a susceptible vertebrate host(s) must be present, and during infection of a vertebrate host, the virus must be at a sufficient titre for an acceptable duration to infect a subsequent feeding arthropod (Artsob et al. 2006, Turell et al. 2002). Furthermore, proper temperature conditions must be met not only for the arthropod population's development but to aid in viral amplification within the arthropod and vertebrate hosts.

To date, no WNV activity has been documented in Newfoundland. However, a known competent vector of the disease, *Cx. pipiens*, is now known to occur in the western region of the island. Compared to other species in this region, the population of *Cx. pipiens* was low and this may limit its potential to become infected. Environmental factors, such as temperature and rainfall, have long been known to influence the transmission cycles of arboviruses. It has been shown that *Cx. pipiens* is a significantly more efficient vector of WNV when the mosquitoes are held at 30°C, than when they are held at or below 26°C (Dohm et al. 2002a). The ability of WN and other mosquito-borne pathogens to extend their geographical range and enhance their transmission rates is directly influenced by changes in climatic conditions (Reiter 2001, Gratz 1999, Reeves et al.1994). A daily mean temperature increase and changes in patterns of precipitation caused by global warming have the potential to influence the range of vectors and incidence and distribution of these diseases.

The specific roles of most of the known susceptible mosquito species in the WNV transmission cycle in North America are unknown, but several of these species appear to

be competent (Goddard et al. 2002, Turell et al. 2001, Sardelis et al. 2001). Although species in the genus *Culex* appear to be the main vectors implicated in the avian amplification cycle of WNV, with Cx. pipiens being important in eastern North America, a number of susceptible mosquitoes are opportunistic feeders. Several of these opportunistic species may be important bridge vectors that move the virus from the primary enzootic cycle between *Culex* and avian hosts to mammals, posing a much greater threat to humans and equines (Turell et al. 2002). Opportunistic species can include Aedes, such as Ae. vexans, which was collected only once in the province, Ochlerotatus, such as Oc. canadensis, an abundant species, other Culex species, and the widely distributed Cq. perturbans. (Kilpatrick et al. 2005, Turell et al. 2002, Sardelis et al. 2001). However, recent studies also show that Cx. pipiens, although not previously considered important in transmitting WNV to humans, is responsible for human infections in some regions due to shifts in their feeding behaviour from primarily birds to humans (Kilpatrick et al. 2006, Kilpatrick et al. 2005, Spielman 2001). Thus, species implicated elsewhere to be involved in the transmission cycle of WNV do occur on the Island of Newfoundland.

Birds play a central role in amplification cycles of WNV (Marra et al. 2004, Hubálek and Halouzka 1999, Komar 1999). As previously mentioned, high rates of mortality have been observed in some bird species (i.e. Corvidae) while other species may show little to no effects from exposure to WNV. In the laboratory, passerines such as Blue Jays (*Cyanocitta cristata*), Common Grackles (*Quiscalus quiscula* Linnaeus), House Finches (*Carpodacus mexicanus*), Americans Crows (*Corvus brachyrhynchos*), and House Sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) appear to be highly competent reservoirs of 25 tested species, while other species are incompetent reservoirs (e.g. Rock Pigeons (*Columba livia* Gmelin), Ring-necked Pheasants (*Phasianus colchicus* Linnaeus), and Japanese Quail (*Coturnix japonicusa* Temminck and Schlegel) (Reisen et al. 2005, Komar et al. 2003). Artsob et al. (2006) stated that the importance of a given bird species to act as a reservoir of WNV depends in part on its susceptibility to infection, the proportion of vectors that become infected when feeding upon infected hosts, and the duration of infection (i.e. the number of days that an animal maintains an infectious viremia).

It has been shown that the introduction and observed patterns of WNV spread in the Western Hemisphere are best explained by migratory birds as critical long-distance transport agents (Peterson et al. 2003, Rappole et al. 2000). There is difficulty in determining the intensity and duration of viremia in naturally infected wild birds and the timing of migration and presence of a capable vector population. Nonetheless, migratory birds have long been suspected as critical agents in outbreaks of this disease and other arboviruses; under this view mosquitoes would then be responsible for enzootic transmission of the virus among hosts, as well as for spread on local scales. It should also be noted that although an individual migrant bird species may bring infection into a region, the pathogen may not become established.

Given the number of additional mosquito species found in Newfoundland for the first time in this study, there is a potential for additional species to colonize the province. In addition to potential colonization of infected vector species, there is evidence for

WNV to reach the island through the movement of avian populations along southeastern and circum-gulf migration patterns (Peterson et al. 2003). In conclusion, although no evidence of transmission of WNV was found, several additional mosquito species including an efficient vector are established here. Changes in land-use influencing certain types of larval habitats, increasing numbers of vertebrate hosts, such as domestic animals and those introduced by human activity, and climate change could play determining roles in the occurrence and/or establishment of WNV in Newfoundland and may increase the future risk of transmission. Therefore, an ongoing assessment of the potential risk of WNV and other arboviruses is prudent.

6 CONCLUSION

The present study found 22 previously collected mosquito species and three additional species: *Cq. perturbans*, *Cx. pipiens*, and *Oc. provocans*, representing seven genera. In addition, *An. earlei* and *Cx. territans* were previously collected only in Labrador but are now recorded on the Island of Newfoundland. Detection of these changes highlights the value of monitoring mosquito fauna over time, particularly when there is potential threat from a mosquito vectored arbovirus or other pathogen. The discovery of an established population of *Cx. pipiens*, although in low abundance, shows how risk assessment of a disease requires this increased knowledge.

It is clear that land-use changes due to anthropogenic practises can influence mosquito populations. Newfoundland's mosquito fauna used suitable habitat, such as ditches and temporary pools, in rural and agricultural areas where the intensity of these changes is greatest, particularly with regard to increased nutrient levels, although they maintained many characteristics of natural habitats. In addition, it is these impacted sites that crows and other potential hosts select for habitat use. Although container breeding in urban centres was not observed, habitats such as converted cattail marshes proved to be a significant source of the pest species, *Cq. perturbans*. Futhermore, the prime larval habitat of *Cx. pipens* and whether it was enhanced by human land-use practices was not elucidated here.

The change in land-use in the province with increased agriculture, urbanization, deforestation, and other development projects have the potential to result in changes in mosquito population densities and occurrences. These changes, in addition to altering larval habitat, also change potential host populations that can enable the emergence of diseases such as WNV. Furthermore, predicted changes in climate towards intense periodic precipitation events and warmer weather will enhance evaporative enrichment of these habitats and influence the establishment of such pathogens. Although there has been a focus on the potential impact of climate change on human health with respect to mosquito-borne pathogens, the literature clearly shows that human activities and their impact on the local ecology have generally been much more significant in the prevalence and range of these diseases (Reiter 2001, Gratz 1999).

WNV has not been detected in Newfoundland and at this time, the level of risk to human and animal populations is low. However, as mentioned in Chapter 5, continued long-term monitoring of mosquito populations given changes in land-use and local climate is needed to maintain a confident predicted level of risk. These baseline data will enable us to better understand the ecology of potential diseases in a new geographical range, as was the case when WNV emerged in North America, from infected migratory birds entering Newfoundland. In addition, knowledge of mosquito species composition, relative abundance, breeding habitat, and seasonal trends can be used to assess the risk of other diseases as well as guide local response concerning the implementation of control activities if needed in the future.

Furthermore, the role of specific bird species to act as reservoir hosts varies across the range of WNV, partly because of the diversity of available avian species. Artsob et al. (2006) reported a recent study designed to determine if the incidence of WNV is more closely related to the abundance of vector mosquitoes or the diversity of bird

communities along urban-to-rural gradients. Only low bird diversity was an important predictor of WNV incidence in vector mosquitoes; based on a theory that a potential dilution effect may exist whereby a greater diversity of species includes more species that are poor amplifying hosts. These results suggest that efforts to conserve bird diversity by habitat conservation in urban and agricultural landscapes may actually contribute to WNV control efforts. These findings are of particular interest to Newfoundland where land-use changes are occurring, although not to the degree of other urban and agriculture locations across the country. Therefore, small changes in these human activities to limit the number of potential mosquito breeding habitats, while conserving avian species habitat, will significantly reduce the likelihood of a WNV outbreak should this disease be introduced.

7 REFERENCES

Allan, S. A. and D. Kline. 2004. Evaluation of various attributes of gravid female traps for collection of *Culex* in Florida. Journal of Vector Ecology 29:285-294.

Anderson, J. F., T. G. Andreadis, A. J. Main, and D. L. Kline. 2004. Prevalence of West Nile virus in tree canopy-inhabiting *Culex pipiens* and associated mosquitoes. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 71:112-119.

Anderson, J. F., T. G. Andreadis, C. R. Vossbrinck, S. Tirrell, E. M. Wakem, R. A. French, A. E. Garmendia, and H. J. Van Kruiningen. 1999. Isolation of West Nile virus from mosquitoes, crows, and a Cooper's hawk in Connecticut. Science 286:2331-2333.

Andreadis, T. G., J. F. Anderson, L. E. Munstermann, R. J. Wolfe, and D. A. Florin. 2001. Discovery, distribution, and abundance of the newly introduced mosquito *Ochlerotatus japonicus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Connecticut, USA. Journal of Medical Entomology 36:774-779.

Artsob, H. 1990. Arbovirus activity of Canada. Archives of Virology Supplement:249-258.

Artsob, H., R. Lindsay, and M. Drebot. 2003. Laboratory-based surveillance for West Nile virus activity in Canada. Canadian Journal of Medical Laboratory Science 65:86-89.

Artsob, H., R. Lindsay, and M. Drebot. 2006. Biodiversity-related aspects of West Nile virus and its cycle in nature. Biodiversity 7:18-23.

Bailey, C. L., B. F. Eldridge, D. E. Hayes, D. M. Watts, R. F. Tammariello, and J. M. Dalrymple. 1978. Isolation of St. Louis encephalitis virus from overwintering *Culex pipiens* mosquitoes. Science 199:1346-1349.

Banfield, C. E. 1983. Climate, pp. 37-106. In G. R. South [ed.], Biogeography and Ecology of the Island of Newfoundland. Dr. W. Junk Publishers, The Hague.

Baqar, S., C. G. Hayes, J. R. Murphy, and D. M. Watts. 1993. Vertical transmission of West Nile virus by *Culex* and *Aedes* species mosquitoes. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 48:757-762.

Batzer, D. P. 1993. Technique for surveying larval populations of *Coquillettidia perturbans*. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 9:349-351.

Beehler, J. W. and M. S. Mulla. 1995. Effects of organic enrichment on temporal distribution and abundance of culicine egg rafts. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 11:167-171.

Bosak, P. J., L. M. Reed, and W. J. Crans. 2001. Habitat preference of host-seeking *Coquillettidia perturbans* (Walker) in relation to birds and eastern equine encephalomyelitis virus in New Jersey. Journal of Vector Ecology 26:103-109.

Calder, L. and M. Laird. 1994. Mosquito travelers, arbovirus vectors and the used tire trade. Travel Medicine International 12:3-12.

Campbell, C. E., I. G. Warkentin, and K. G. Powell. 2004. Factors influencing the distribution and potential spread of introduced anurans in western Newfoundland. Northeastern Naturalist 11:151-162.

CDC. 2000. Update: West Nile virus activity--- Northeastern United States, 2000. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 49:820-822.

CDC. 2001. West Nile virus activity--- Eastern United States, 2001. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 50:617-619.

Chamberlain, R. W. and W. D. Sudia. 1961. Mechanism of transmission of viruses by mosquitoes. Annual Review of Entomology 6:371-390.

Clements, A. N. 1992. The Biology of Mosquitoes: Development, Nutrition, and Reproduction. Chapman & Hall, London.

Clements, A. N. 1999. The Biology of Mosquitoes: Sensory, Reception, and Behaviour. Chapman & Hall, London.

Colbo, M. H. Mosquitoes of Newfoundland. 2003. Ref Type: Personal Communication

Dahl, C., L. T. Nielsen, and E. Petersson. 2004. Mosquito larvae (Diptera: Culicidae) in snow-melt pools in a Swedish Lapland area. Journal of Vector Ecology 29:109-123.

Damman, A. W. H. 1983. An ecological subdivision of the Island of Newfoundland, pp. 163-206. In G. R. South [ed.], Biogeography and Ecology of the Island of Newfoundland. Dr. W. Junk Publishers, The Hague.

Darsie, R. F., Jr. 2002. Revision of Darsie and Ward (1981) to include *Ochlerotatus japonicus* Theobald and a checklist of species referred to the genus *Ochlerotatus* in the Nearctic Region. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 18:237-240.

Darsie, R. F., Jr. and R. A. Ward. 1981. Identification and geographical distribution of the mosquitoes of North America, north of Mexico. Mosquito Systematics Supplement:1-313.

Darsie, R. F., Jr. and R. A. Ward. 2000. Summary of new distribution records for mosquito species in the United States and Canada for the period 1981-99. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 16:1-4.

Day, J. F. 2001. Predicting St. Louis encephalitis virus epidemics: lessons from recent, and not so recent, outbreaks. Annual Review of Entomology 46:111-138.

Dohm, D. J., M. L. O'Guinn, and M. J. Turell. 2002a. Effect of environmental temperature on the ability of *Culex pipiens* (Diptera: Culicidae) to transmit West Nile virus. Journal of Medical Entomology 39:221-225.

Dohm, D. J., M. R. Sardelis, and M. J. Turell. 2002b. Experimental vertical transmission of West Nile virus by *Culex pipiens* (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of Medical Entomology 39:640-644.

Drebot, M., R. Lindsay, I. Barker, P. Buck, M. Fearon, F. Hunter, P. Sockett, and H. Artsob. 2003. West Nile virus surveillance and diagnostics: A Canadian perspective. The Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology 14:105-114.

Eidson, M., L. D. Kramer, W. B. Stone, Y. Hagiwara, K. Schmit, and the New York State West Nile Virus Avain Surveillance Team. 2001. Dead bird surveillance as an early warning system for West Nile virus. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7:631-635.

Francy, D. B., W. A. Rush, M. Montoya, D. S. Indlish, and R. A. Bolin. 1981. Transovarial transmission of St. Louis encephalitis virus by *Culex pipiens* complex mosquitoes. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 30:699-705.

Freeman, T. N. 1952. Interim report of the distribution of mosquitoes obtained in the northern insect survey. 1, -2. Defence Research Board of Ottawa. Technical Report. Ref Type: Report

Gaffigan, T. V. and R. A. Ward. 1985. Index to the second supplement to "A Catalog of the Mosquitoes of the World", with corrections and additions (Diptera: Culicidae). Mosquito Systematics 17:52-63.

Garvin, M. C., O. A. Ohajuruka, K. E. Bell, and S. L. Ives. 2004. Seroprevalence of eastern equine encephalomyelitis virus in bird and larval survey of *Culiseta melanura* Coquillett during an interepizootic period in central Ohio. Journal of Vector Ecology 29:73-78.

Gerhardt, R. R., K. L. Gottfried, C. S. Apperson, B. S. Davis, P. C. Erwin, A. B. Smith, N. A. Panella, E. E. Powell, and R. S. Nasci. 2001. First isolation of La Crosse virus from naturally infected *Aedes albopictus*. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7:807-811.

Goddard, L. B., A. E. Roth, W. K. Reisen, and T. W. Scott. 2002. Vector competence of California mosquitoes for West Nile virus. Emerging Infectious Diseases 8:1385-1391.

Gratz, N. G. 1999. Emerging and resurging vector-borne diseases. Annual Review of Entomology 44:51-75.

Hardy, J. L., L. Rosen, W. C. Reeves, R. P. Scrivani, and S. B. Presser. 1984. Experimental transovarial transmission of St. Louis encephalitis virus by *Culex* and *Aedes* mosquitoes. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 33:166-175.

Haufe, W. O. 1952. Observations on the biology of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) at Goose Bay, Labrador. The Canadian Entomologist 84:254-263.

Heard, S. B. 1994. Wind exposure and the distribution of the pitcher-plant mosquito, *Wyeomyia smithii*. Environmental Entomology 23:1250-1253.

Hearnden, M. N. and B. H. Kay. 1995. Changes in mosquito populations with expansion of the Ross River Reservoir, Australia, from stage 1 to stage 2A. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 11:211-224.

Hermanutz, L., S. Tilley, J. Kemp, T. Bell, P. Dixon, W. Nicholls, and E. Donato. 2004. Risk assessment of insect pest and pathogens on endangered plants of the limestone barrens of Newfoundland: final report to the Endangered Species Recovery Fund. St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Memorial University of Newfoundland. Ref Type: Report

Hubálek, Z. and J. Halouzka. 1999. West Nile fever- a reemerging mosquito-borne viral disease in Europe. Emerging Infectious Diseases 5:643-650.

Joy, J. E. and J. T. Clay. 2002. Habitat use by larval mosquitoes in West Virginia. American Midland Naturalist 148:363-375.

Kilpatrick, A. M., L. D. Kramer, S. R. Campbell, E. Oscar Alleyne, A. P. Dobson, and P. Daszak. 2005. West Nile virus risk assessment and the bridge vector paradigm. Emerging Infectious Diseases 11:425-429.

Kilpatrick, A. M., L. D. Kramer, M. J. Jones, P. P. Marra, and P. Daszak. 2006. West Nile virus epidemics in North America are driven by shifts in mosquito feeding behaviour. PLoS Biology 4:e82.

Knight, K. L. 1978. Supplement to A Catalog of the Mosquitoes of the World (Diptera: Culicidae). Entomological Society of America, College Park, Md.

Knight, K. L. and A. Stone. 1977. A Catalog of the Mosquitoes of the World (Diptera: Culicidae), 2nd ed. Entomological Society of America, College Park, Md.

Komar, N. 1999. West Nile viral encephalitis. Revue Scientifique et Technique 19:166-176. Komar, N., S. Langevin, and S. Hinten. 2003. Experimental infection of North American birds with the New York 1999 strain of West Nile virus. Emerging Infectious Diseases 9:311-322.

Kronenwetter-Koepel, T. A., J. K. Meece, C. A. Miller, and K. D. Reed. 2005. Surveillance of above- and below-ground mosquito breeding habitats in a rural midwestern community: baseline data for larvicidal control measures against West Nile vectors. Clinical Medicine and Research 3:3-12.

Lanciotti, R. S., J. T. Roehrig, V. Deubel, J. Smith, M. Parker, K. E. Steele, B. Crise, K. E. Volpe, M. B. Crabtree, J. H. Scherret, R. A. Hall, J. S. Mackenzie, C. B. Cropp, B. Panigrahy, E. Ostlund, B. Schmitt, M. Malkinson, C. Banet, J. Weissman, N. Komar, H. M. Savage, W. Stone, T. McNamara, and D. J. Gubler. 1999. Origin of the West Nile virus responsible for an outbreak of encephalitis in the northeastern United States. Science 286:2333-2337.

Larson, D. J. and M. H. Colbo. 1983. The aquatic insects: biogeographic considerations, pp. 593-678 In G. R. South [ed.], Biogeography and Ecology of the Island of Newfoundland. Dr. W. Junk Publishers, The Hague.

Lewis, D. J. and G. F. Bennett. 1979. Biting flies of the eastern Maritime provinces of Canada. II. Culicidae. Mosquito News 39:633-639.

Lindsay, R., I. Barker, G. Nayar, M. Drebot, S. Calvin, C. Scammell, C. Sachvie, T. Scammell-La Fleur, A. Dibernardo, M. Andonova, and H. Artsob. 2003. Rapid antigencapture assay to detect West Nile virus in dead corvids. Emerging Infectious Diseases 9:1406-1410.

Lounibos, L. P. 2002. Invasion by insect vectors of human disease. Annual Review of Entomology 47:233-266.

Mackenzie, J. S., A. D. T. Barrett, and V. Deubel. 2002. The Japanese encephalitis serological group of Flaviviruses: a brief introduction to the group, pp. 1-10 In J. S. Mackenzie, V. Deubel, and A. D. T. Barrett [eds.], Japanese encephalitis and West Nile viruses. Springer, Berlin.

Marra, P. P., S. Griffing, C. Caffrey, A. M. Kilpatrick, R. McLean, C. Brand, E. Saito, A. P. Dupuis, L. Kramer, and R. Novak. 2004. West Nile virus and wildlife. BioScience 54:393-402.

Mitchell, C. J. 1996. Environmental management for vector control, pp. 492-501 In W. C. Marquardt and B. J. Beaty [eds.], The Biology of Disease Vectors. University Press of Colorado, Colorado.

Mitchell, C. J., M. L. Niebylski, G. C. Smith, N. Karabatsos, D. Martin, J. P. Mutebi, Jr. G. B. Craig, and M. J. Mahler. 1992. Isolation of Eastern Equine encephalitis virus from *Aedes albopictus* in Florida. Science 257:526-527.

Mokry, J. 1984. Studies on Newfoundland *Aedes* mosquitoes with reference to their reproductive and vector potentials. Mosquito News 44:221-227.

Mokry, J., H. Artsob, and R. Butler. 1984. Studies on California serogroup virus activity in Newfoundland, Canada, 1980-83. Mosquito News 44:310-314.

Morris, C. D., R. H. Zimmerman, and J. D. Edman. 1980. Epizootiology of eastern equine encephalomyelitis virus in upstate New York, USA II. Population dynamics and vector potential of adult *Culiseta melanura* (Diptera: Culicidae) in relation to distance from breeding site. Journal of Medical Entomology 17:453-465.

Morris, R. F. 1983. Introduced terrestrial insects, pp. 551-591 In G. R. South [ed.], Biogeography and Ecology of the Island of Newfoundland. Dr. W. Junk Publishers, The Hague.

Nasci, R. S., H. M. Savage, D. J. White, J. R. Miller, B. C. Cropp, M. S. Godsey, A. J. Kerst, P. Bennett, K. Gottfried, and R. S. Lanciotti. 2001. West Nile virus in overwintering *Culex* mosquitoes, New York City, 2000. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7:1-3.

Nash, D., F. Mostashari, A. Fine, J. Miller, D. O'Leary, K. Murray, A. Huang, A. Rosenberg, A. Greenberg, M. Sherman, S. Wong, G. L. Campbell, J. Roehrig, D. J. Gubler, W. J. Shieh, S. Zaki, P. Smith, M. Layton, and West Nile Outbreak Response Working Group. 2001. The outbreak of West Nile virus infection in the New York City area in 1999. New England Journal of Medicine 344:1807-1814.

Nielsen, L. T. and J. E. Mokry. 1982a. *Culiseta melanura* in Newfoundland. Mosquito News 42:275.

Nielsen, L. T. and J. E. Mokry. 1982b. Mosquitoes of the island of Newfoundland: a report of new records and notes on the species. Mosquito Systematics 14:34-40.

Peterson, A. T., D. A. Vieglais, and J. K. Andreasen. 2003. Migratory birds modeled as critical transport agents for West Nile virus in North America. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases 3:27-37.

Peyton, E. L., S. R. Campbell, T. M. Candeletti, M. Romanowski, and W. Crans. 1999. *Aedes (Finlaya) japonicus* (Theobald), a new introduction into the United States. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 15:238-241.
Pickavance, J. R., G. F. Bennett, and J. Phipps. 1970. Some mosquitoes and blackflies from Newfoundland. Canadian Journal of Zoology 48:621-624.

Rappole, J. H., S. R. Derrickson, and Z. Hubálek. 2000. Migratory birds and spread of West Nile virus in the Western Hemisphere. Emerging Infectious Diseases 6:319-328.

Reeves, W. C., A. L. Hardy, W. K. Reisen, and M. M. Milby. 1994. Potential effect of global warming on mosquito-borne arboviruses. Journal of Medical Entomology 31:323-332.

Reinhert, J. F. 2000. New classification for the composite genus *Aedes* (Diptera: Culicidae: Aedini), evelation of subgenus *Ochlerotatus* to generic rank, reclassification of the other subgenera and species. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 16:175-188.

Reisen, W. K., Y. Fang, and V. M. Martinez. 2005. Avian host and mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) vector competence determine the efficiency of West Nile and St. Louis Encephalitis virus transmission. Journal of Medical Entomology 42:367-375.

Reiskind, M. H., E. T. Walton, and M. L. Wilson. 2004. Nutrient-dependent reduced growth and survival of larval *Culex restuans* (Diptera: Culicidae): laboratory and field experiments in Michigan. Journal of Medical Entomology 41:650-656.

Reiskind, M. H. and M. L. Wilson. 2004. *Culex restuans* (Diptera: Culicidae) oviposition behavior determined by larval habitat quality and quantity in southeastern Michigan. Journal of Medical Entomology 41:179-186.

Reiter, P. 2001. Climate change and mosquito-borne disease. Environmental Health Perspectives Supplements 109:141-161.

Romanowski, M. and Candeletti, T. M.1984. Identification and surveillance of *Coquillettidia perturbans* breeding habitat, with observations on larviciding techniques, in Ocean County, N.J., pp. 54-58. Proceedings of the New Jersey Mosquito Control Association.

Rosen, L., J. C. Lien, D. A. Shroyer, R. A. Baker, and L. C. Lu. 1989. Experimental vertical transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus by *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* and other mosquitoes. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 40:548-556.

Rosen, L., R. B. Tesh, J. C. Lien, and J. H. Cross. 1978. Transovarial transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus by mosquitoes. Science 199:909-911.

Rydzanicz, K. and E. Lonc. 2003. Species composition and seasonal dynamics of mosquito larvae in the Wroclaw, Poland area. Journal of Vector Ecology 28:255-266.

Sardelis, M. R., M. J. Turell, D. J. Dohm, and M. L. O'Guinn. 2001. Vector competence of selected North American *Culex* and *Coquillettidia* mosquitoes for West Nile virus. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7:1018-1022.

Service, M. W. 1993a. Sampling adults with carbon dioxide traps, light traps, visual attraction traps and sound traps, pp. 499-610 Mosquito Ecology: Field Sampling Methods. Elsevier Science Publishers Ltd., New York.

Service, M. W. 1993b. Sampling the larval population, pp. 75-209. Mosquito Ecology: Field Sampling Methods. Elsevier Science Publishers Ltd., New York.

Spielman, A. 2001. Structure and seasonality of Nearctic *Culex pipiens* populations. Annals of New York Academy of Sciences 951:220-234.

Stone, W. B., J. E. Therrien, R. Benson, L. Kramer, E. B. Kauffman, M. Eidson, and S. Campbell. 2005. Assays to detect West Nile virus in dead birds. Emerging Infectious Diseases 11:1770-1773.

Thielman, A. C. and F. F. Hunter. 2004. A photographic key to adult mosquito species of Canada (Dipters: Culicidae), 1 ed. Entomogen, Inc., St. Catherines.

Turell, M. J., M. L. O'Guinn, D. J. Dohm, and J. W. Jones. 2001. Vector competence of North American mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) for West Nile virus. Journal of Medical Entomology 38:130-134.

Turell, M. J., M. R. Sardelis, M. L. O'Guinn, and D. J. Dohm. 2002. Potential vectors of West Nile virus in North America, pp. 241-252 In J. S. Mackenzie, V. Deubel, and A. D. T. Barrett [eds.], Japanese encephalitis and West Nile viruses. Springer, Berlin.

Vockeroth, J. T. 1954. Notes on the identities and distributions of *Aedes* species of northern Canada, with a key to the females (Diptera: Culicidae). Canadian Entomologist 86:241-255.

Ward, R. A. 1984. Second supplement to "A catalog of the mosqutioes of the world" (Diptera: Culicidae). Mosquito Systematics 16:227-270.

Ward, R. A. 1992. Third supplement to "A catalog of the mosquitoes of the world" (Diptera: Culicidae). Mosquito Systematics 24:177-230.

Washburn, J. O. 1995. Regulatory factors affecting larval mosquito populations in container and pool habitats: implications for biological control. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 11:279-283.

Watts, D. M., S. Pantuwatana, G. R. DeFoliart, T. M. Yuill, and W. H. Thompson. 1973. Transovarial transmission of LaCrosse virus (California encephalitis group) in the mosquito *Aedes triseratus*. Science 182:1140-1141.

Wells, E. D. and F. C. Pollett. 1983. Peatlands, In G. R. South [ed.], Biogeography and Ecology of the Island of Newfoundland. Dr. W. Junk Publishers, Boston.

White, D. J., L. D. Kramer, P. B. Backenson, G. Luckacik, G. Johnson, J. Oliver, J. J. Howard, R. G. Means, M. Eidson, I. Gotham, V. Kulasekera, S. Campbell, the Arbovirus Research Laboratory, and the Statewide West Nile Virus Response Teams. 2001. Mosquito surveillance and polymerase chain reaction detection of West Nile virus, New York State. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7:643-649.

Wolf, W. W., A. N. Sparks, S. D. Pair, J. K. Westbrook, and F. M. Truesdale. 1986. Radar observations and collections of insects in the Gulf of Mexico, pp. 221-234 In W. Danthanarayana [ed.], Insect Flight: Dispersal and Migration. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

Wood, D. M., P. T. Dang, and R. A. Ellis. 1979. The Mosquitoes of Canada, Diptera: Culicidae. Agriculture Canada Publication. 1686. Quebec.

Woodring, J. L. and E. W. Davidson. 1996. Biological control of mosquitoes, pp. 530-548. In W. C. Marquardt and B. J. Beaty [eds.], The Biology of Disease Vectors. University Press of Colorado, Colorado.

Woodring, J. L., S. Higgs, and B. J. Beaty. 1996. Natural cycles of vector-borne pathogens, pp. 51-72. In W. C. Marquardt and B. J. Beaty [eds.], The Biology of Disease Vectors. University Press of Colorado, Colorado.

Yaremych, S. A., R. J. Novak, A. J. Raim, P. C. Mankin, and R. E. Warner. 2004. Home range and habitat use by American crows in relation to transmission of West Nile virus. The Wilson Bulletin 116:232-239.

Yaremych, S. A., R. E. Warner, M. T. Van de Wyngaerde, A. M. Ringia, R. Lampman, and R. J. Novak. 2003. West Nile virus detection in crows. Emerging Infectious Diseases 9:1319-1321.

8 APPENDICES

8.1 Appendix 1: Frequency of occurrence and abundance of mosquito species collected in Newfoundland and Labrador 2004-2005.

Table 8.1 Frequency of occurrence of species of larval and adult mosquitoes collected inNewfoundland and Labrador, 2004-2005.

	Labrador	Western Parks	Corner Brook	Deer Lake	Cormack	Central Parks	Eastern Parks	St. John's
			LARVAE					
n	0	4	80	210	110	4	8	262
Ae. cinereus	0	2	2	11	5	2	3	9
An. earlei	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Cs. impatiens	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Cs. minnisotae	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	5
Cs. morsitans	0	1	6	9	1	0	2	18
Cx. pipiens	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0
Cx. territans	0	0	13	41	6	0	0	0
Oc. abserratus	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	13
Oc. canadensis	0	4	11	32	10	2	5	65
Oc. cantator	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Oc. communis	0	0	2	6	10	1	1 .	0
Oc. decticus	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Oc. diantaeus	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0
Oc. excrucians	0	0	1	1	2	0	0	7
Oc. fitchii	0	0	2	5	2	0	0	0
Oc. implicatus	0	0	0	3	4	0	0	0
Oc. intrudens	0, -	0	0	5	0	0	0	0
Oc. pionips	0	0	1	2	3	0	0	0
Oc. provocans	0	0	1	1	4	0	0	0
Oc. punctor	0	2	7	19	15	2	4	51
i			ADULTS		9 - F.I.W			
<u>n</u> .	6	43	15	84	18	8	54	194
Ae. cinereus	0	1	0	22	5	4	6	7.
An. earlei	0	0	0	4	0	· 1	0	0
Cq. perturbans	0	5	7	37	8	6	22	38
Cs. impatiens	. 1	2	· 1 ·	1 -	0	0	1	0
Cs. melanura	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	5
Cs. minnesotae	0	6	2	7	0	0	13	21
Cs. morsitans	2	7	0	18	2	5	11	66
Cx. pipiens	0	0	2	32	2	0	0	0
Cx. territans	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Oc. abserratus/punctor	1	14	3	16	6	7	32	60
Oc. canadensis	0	18	6	45	8	6	36	77
Oc. cantator	0	1	0	• 0	0	1	10	1
Oc. communis	0	4	3	32	14	2	15	7
Oc. decticus	0	0	0	· 1	0	0	2	0

8-1

Table 8.1 continued

	Labrador	Western Parks	Corner Brook	Deer Lake	Cormack	Central Parks	Eastern Parks	St. John's
			ADULTS	3				
n	6	43	15	84	18	8	54	194
Oc. diantaeus	0	1	0	30	0	0	7	0
Oc. excrucians	2	2	1	41	5	2	12	32
Oc. fitchii	0	. 1	0	40	3	0	0	0
Oc. implicatus	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
Oc. intrudens	0	0	0	14	0	0	6	0
Oc. nigripes	1	· 0 1	0	0	0	0	0	-0
Oc. pionips	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oc. provocans	0	0	0	5	2	0	0	0
Oc. pullatus	0	0	0	9	1	0	0	0

Table 8.2 Cumulative abundance of species of larval (measured as number per dip) and adultmosquitoes collected in Newfoundland and Labrador, 2004-2005.

	labrador	Western	Corner	Deer	Cormack	Central Parks	Eastern	St.
	Labiadoi	T ditto		F	Connack	1 4110	T and	
		4			440	4		000
<u>n</u>	0	4	80	210	110	4	8	262
Ae. cinereus	0	0.6	1.0	4.2	9.9	0.8	1.6	3.9
An. earlei	0	0	0.2	0	0	0	0	0
Cs. impatiens	0	0	0	0.2	0	0	0	0
Cs. minnesotae	0	0	0.2	0	0	0	0	2.2
Cs. morsitans	0	0.1	2.7	3.6	0.1	0	0.5	7.7
Cx. pipiens	0	0	0	0.6	0	0	0	0
Cx. territans	0	0	9.7	79.5	7.4	0	0	0
Oc. abserratus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.1	11.4
Oc. canadensis	0	1.5	13.5	26.5	39.1	0.8	3.6	59.3
Oc. cantator	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.4
Oc. communis	0	0	1.0	82.9	34.3	1.8	0.5	0
Oc. decticus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.4	1.1
Oc. diantaeus	0	0	0	3.6	0	0	0	0
Oc. excrucians	0	0	0.2	0.2	1.0	0	0	2.0
Oc. fitchii	0	0	0.3	1.4	0.8	0	0	0
Oc. implicatus	0	0	0	2.1	3.1	0	0	0
Oc. intrudens	0	0	0	11.7	0	0	0	0
Oc. pionips	0	0	0.2	0.6	1.2	0	0	0
Oc. provocans	0	0	0.1	0.2	5.1	0	0	0
Oc. pullatus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oc. punctor	0	0.8	14.8	9.2	14.4	2.2	3.2	54.8
			ADULT	S			.*	
n	6	43	15	84	18	8	54	194
Ae. cinereus	0	1	0	58	11	10	14	9
An. earlei	0	0	0	4	0	1	0	0
Cq. perturbans	0	14	120	290	74	53	116	452
Cs. impatiens	1	2	2	1	0	0	11	• 0

8-2

Table 8.2 continued

	Labrador	Western	Corner	Deer	Cormock	Central	Eastern	St.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Labrador	Faiks			COMIACK	Fains	Fains	JUINS
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		ADULTS	5				20
<u>n</u>	6	43	15	84	18	8	54	194
Cs. melanura	0.	0	0	0	Ö	0	5	5
Cs. minnesotae	0	12	27	18	0	. 0	19	50
Cs. morsitans	6	26	0	31	3	16	39	248
Cx. pipiens	0	0	3	136	2	0	0	0
Cx. territans	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Oc. abserratus/punctor	1	39	3	25	10	23	287	275
Oc. canadensis	0	162	20	158	32	32	323	618
Oc. cantator	0	1	0	0	0	1	54	1
Oc. communis	0	9	8	154	138	9	51	10
Oc. decticus	0	0	0	1	0	0	4	0
Oc. diantaeus	0	1	0	177	0	0	8	0
Oc. excrucians	3	2	1	189	13	2	15	104
Oc. fitchii	0	1	0	99	3	0	0	0
Oc. implicatus	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
Oc. intrudens	0	0	0	58	0	0	8	0
Oc. nigripes	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oc. pionips	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oc. provocans	0	0	0	11	2	• • • • •	0	0
Oc. pullatus	0	0	0	82	1	0	0	0

Table 8.3 Total larval abundances of mosquito species collected on the Island of Newfoundland,2004-2005.

	Western Parks	Corner Brook	Deer Lake	Cormack	Central Parks	Eastern Parks	St. John's
n	4	80	210	110	4	8	262
Ae. cinereus	6	5	42	51	8	19	23
An. earlei	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Cs. impatiens	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Cs. minnesotae	0	1	0	0	0	0	11
Cs. morsitans	1	15	24	1	0	3	39
Cx. pipiens	0	0	3	0	0	0	0
Cx. territans	0	55	450	73	0	0	0 .
Oc. abserratus	0	0	0	0	0	1	84
Oc. canadensis	14	75	168	200	8	35	303
Oc. cantator	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Oc. communis	0	5	428	172	-9	7	0
Oc. decticus	0	0	0	· 0	0	6	6
Oc. diantaeus	0	0	18	0	0	0	0
Oc. excrucians	0	1	1	5	0	0	14
Oc. fitchii	0	2	8	5	0	0	0
Oc. implicatus	0	0	× 14	16	0	0	0
Oc. intrudens	0	0	60	. · O	0	0	0
Oc. pionips	0	1	3	6	0	0	0
Oc. provocans	0	2	1	27	0	0	0
Oc. punctor	6	80	68	76	13	32	341

8-3



8.2 Appendix 2: Health and community services boards of Newfoundland and Labrador.

Figure 8.1 A map of Newfoundland and Labrador outlining the health and community services boards.







